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Introduction

1.

This is the remitted hearing of the Claimants” Part 8 claim under s.7(9) of the Data
Protection Act 1998 (“the DPA 1998”) secking declarations that the First Defendant,
Taylor Wessing LLP (“T'W?), has failed to comply with data subject access requests
(“DSARs”) made on 4 August 2014 and orders requiring them to do so. The claim
against the Second and Third Defendants (who were represented by TW) was dismissed
by consent on terms following the disclosure (and subsequent re-disclosure in revised
form) by them of certain information which constituted or contained the Claimants’
personal data. The claim against TW was heard and dismissed by HHJ Behrens, sitting
as a judge of the Chancery Division, on 6 August 2015 ([2016] 1 WLR 28), but an
appeal by the Claimants was allowed by the Court of Appeal on 16 February 2017
(Arden, David Richards and Irwin LJT), reported at [2017] 1 WLR 3255 (“the Appeal
Decision”). The Court of Appeal decided a number of issues in favour of the
Claimants, but the case was remitted to the Chancery Division for the resolution of
certain other issues, which T have to consider now. Stated shortly, the Claimants’
position is that TW have still not complied with their obligations under 5.7 of the Act.
TW maintain that they have.

At the hearing before me, the Claimants were represented by Antony White QC and
Richard Wilson QC and the First Defendant was represented by Timothy Pitt-Payne
QC and Simon Taube QC. Ithank them for thelr helpful written and oral submissions.

The Background to the Claimants’ Part 8 claim

3.

I derive a great deal of this section from the judgments of HHJ Behrens and Arden LJ
(as she then was) in the Appeal Decision, for which I am grateful,

The Claimants are Mrs Ashiey Dawson-Damer and her two children, Piers Dawson-
Damer and Adelicia Dawson-Damer, who are the adopted children of Mrs Dawson-
Damer and her late husband, Mr John Dawson-Damer (“John D-D”). TW is a firm of
solicitors who act (and have acted for a number of decades together with its antecedent
firms, Taylor Garrett and Taylor Joynson Garrett) for the trustee of a number of
Bahamian trusts, which hold wealth derived originally from the will of the late George
Skelton Yuill, a Scottish industrialist who settled in Australia and died there on

10 October 1917. It has never acted as solicitor for any of the Claimants.



Mr. Yuill had a daughter, Winnifreda. She married Lionel Arthur Sixth Earl of
Portarlington and by him had one child, Viscount Carlow. The latter died in 1944,
leaving two sons: George, Seventh Earl of Portatlington (“George”), who is still alive;
and John D-D, who died in 2000. George and his wife have four children and a
number of grandchildren. John D-D was married twice, the second time to the

First Claimant.

The various family trusts were extensively restructured between 1988 and 1992. This

resulted in:

(1} About 25% being held on discretionary trusts for the benefit of George and his

issue and their spouses;

(2)  About 25% being held on discretionary trusts for the benefit of John D-D and his
family including adopted children (including “the Willards Settlement”); and

(3) About 50% being held on discretionary trusts for the benefit of the issue of
Viscount Carlow and their spouses, but excluding adopted issue (“the

Glenfinnan Settlement”).

The First Claimant (but not the other Claimants) is a discretionary beneficiary of the

Glenfinnan Settlement.

Grampian Trust Company Limited (“Grampian”), a company incorporated and
resident in the Bahamas acted from 1992 as trustee of the Willards and Glenfinnan
Settlements, and also of the trusts for the benefit of George and his family. In 2003
Grampian ceased to be trustee of the Willards Settlement. Grampian remains sole
trustee of the Glenfinnan Settlement. TW no longer act for the trustee of any trust of

which the Second and Third Claimants are beneficiaries.

In late 2013, the Claimants learnt that, in 2006 and 2009, the trustee of the Glenfinnan
Settlement had appointed some US$3402m from the Glenfinnan Settlement to new
trustees to hold on new discretionary trusts for the benefit of the other discretionary
beneficiaries, namely the children of George. The First Claimant did not benefit from
the 2006 and 2009 appointments. This left roughly US$9m in the Glenfinnan
Settlement. On 18 February 2014, the Claimants’ solicitors, McDermott Will & Emery



10.

11.

12,

LLP (“MWE”), challenged the validity of these appointments. It is common ground

that the trustee was entitled to rely on litigation privilege.

It is the Claimants’ case that these appointments may have been influenced by a history
of animosity and distrust towards the Claimants and the First Claimant shown by “trust
advisors” or “family advisors” to the trustee, which the trustee took into account and

allowed itself to be influenced by.

On 14 August 2014 the Claimants’ solicitors made the DSARs, secking all data
of which the Claimants were the data subjects, enclosing the requisite fee. On
11 September 2014, TW sent two letters in reply, On their own behalf as data
controller they stated, that after searching the records held by them, that all of the
Claimants’ personal data it held was covered by legal professional privilege, and
therefore exempted from disclosure under paragraph 10 of Schedule 7 to the DPA (“the
Legal Professional Privilege Exception”). On behalf of the Second and Third
Defendants, who are separate data controllers, TW disclosed some data contained in
records “processed by [the Second and Third Defendants] in connection with their role
as family advisors to the Yuills/Dawson-Damer Trusts”, but claimed that other
information was exempt from the subject access provisions because it was not held as

part of a “relevant filing system”.

After some further cormrespondence between the parties’ respective solicitors, on
19 January 2015, the Claimants began these proceedings, seeking a declaration that TW
had failed to comply with their DSAR, and requesting an order requiring it to do so.

On 20 March 2013, the First Claimant also commenced proceedings in the Supreme
Court of The Bahamas against Grampian, the sole trustee of the Glenfinnan Settlement
(“the Bahamian Proceedings™). In those proceedings she challenged (among other
matters) the validity of the 2006 and 2009 appointments. That litigation is ongoing. It
is an important part of the background that under s.83(8) of the Bahamian Trustee Act
1998 (“the BTA”), no trustee can be compelled to disclose to any beneficiary or other
person a variety of documents specified in sub-paragraphs (a)-(¢) therein, relating to
any letter of wishes, deliberations of trustees and any other documents relating to the
trustees’ exercise of discretion, and the Bahamian court would similarly not be able to

order any such disclosure.
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There were three issues before HHJ Behrens, namely:

(1) Issue 1: The extent of the Legal Professional Privilege Exception:

2)

(3)

whether the Legal Professional Privilege Exception is limited to documents to
which any privilege which attached was legal professional privilege under
English law, so that those documents were exempt from disclosure in legal
proceedings in England as against the appellants (“the narrow view™) or whether
that exception also includes any documents which the trustee could refuse to

disclose to the beneficiaries under Bahamian trust law (“the wide view™).

Issue 2: Disproportionate effort: whether, if the narrow view is correct, any
further search would involve “disproportionate effort” for the purposes of .8(2)
of the DPA 1998 so that it is excused from doing so.

Issue 3: The discretion under s.7(9) of the DPA 1998: whether the Court
was entitled to refuse to exercise its discretion under this sybsection in favour of
the Claimants because their real motive was to use the information in the

Bahamian Proceedings.

On Issue 1, the judge held that the Legal Professional Privilege Exception should be

interpreted purposively so as to include all the documents in respect of which the

trustee would be entitled to resist compulsory disclosure in the Bahamian Proceedings.

On Issue 2, the judge held that it was not reasonable or proportionate to expect TW to

carry out any search or to expect TW to be able to determine which documents were

privileged. The claim to privilege was a matter for the trustee and a matter of

Bahamian law, which might have to be resolved in the Bahamian Proceedings. It

would be a time-consuming and costly exercise.

On Issue 3, the judge held that he would not have exercised his s.7(9)

discretion because:

(1

(2)

It was not a proper use of the DPA 1998 to assist the appellants in the Bahamian

Proceedings.

It was not a proper use of the DPA 1998 to enable the appellants to obtain
documents which they could not obtain by disclosure in the Bahamian

Proceedings.



The Appeal Decision [2017] 1 WLR 3255; [2017] EWCA Civ 74

17. The only reasoned judgment was given by Arden LJ, with whom both Richards
and Irwin LJJ agreed. The judge was overturned on all three issues. The Court of
Appeal held:

(1) On Issue 1. The Legal Professional Privilege Exception applies only to
documents which carry legal professional privilege for the purposes of English
law. This does not include documents by virtue only of the fact that a trustee

may refuse to disclose to a beneficiary.

(2) On Issue 2: TW has not shown that to comply with the request would involve

“disproportionate effort” as all it has done so far is to review its files.

(3) On Issue 3; The judge was wrong to decline to enforce the DSARs because the
Claimants intended to use the information obtained pursuant to it in their

Bahamian Proceedings.

18.  An application by TW for permission to appeal to the Supreme Court was refused by
the Court of Appeal. No application was made thereafter to the Supreme Court.

The remaining issues to be determined at this hearing

19. At paragraph 17 of her judgment, Arden LJ stated:

“It is common ground that certain issues are outside this appeal, and that if
this appeal succeeds they will have 1o be remitted to the High Court. Those
issues include the questions whether TW holds data on a filing system of the
kind to which the DPA gives access, emd whether any particular
document(s) carry legal professional privilege under English law. At that
stage, if there was a dispute as to whether any documenti(s) carried legal
professional privilege, the court would have power under section 15 DPA 1o
examine the material.”

20. This is reflected in paragraph 2 of the Court of Appeal Order dated 16 February 2017.
In addition, certain other issues have arisen in correspondence or out of the tranches of

disclosure provided by TW since January 2018.
21. The issues can therefore bé summarised as follows:

(1} Whether the paper files maintained by TW before it moved to electronic files in
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2005-2008 are a relevant filing system for the purposes of 5.1(1) of the
DPA 1998.

(2) Whether TW can rely on the legal professional privilege exemption contained in
paragraph 10 of schedule 7 {o the DPA 1998 in respect of any particular
documents containing the Claimants’ personal data. There is a sub-issue about

waiver of privilege.

(3) Whether TW has breached its obligations under 5.7 of the DPA 1998 by failing
or refusing to carry out reasonable and proportionate searches for the Claimants’

personal data.

(4) Whether TW has breached its obligations under s.7 of the DPA 1998 by

redacting or withholding the Claimants’ non-exempt personal data.

I shall consider each in turn. Before doing so I set out the evidence which was

before me.

The Claimants’ evidence consisted of the first, second, third and fourth witness
statements of Ziva Robertson, a partner at MWE, dated 19 January and 26 February
2015, 1 November and 29 November 2018 respectively. 1 shall refer to each of them as
Robertson 1, 2, 3 and 4. Reference was also made to a witness statement of the Second
Defendant dated 11 February 2015.

The First Defendant’s evidence consisted of the first, second, third and fourth witness
statements of Kirstie McGuigan, a partner at TW, dated 11 February and 22 June 2015,
14 July 2017 and 16 November 2018 respectively and the first witness statement of
Caroline Tayler, a senior associate at TW, dated 15 November 2018. I shall refer to
each of them as McGuigan 1, 2, 3 and 4 and Tayler 1.

Issue 1: Are the paper files maintained by TW before it moved to electronic files in
2005-2008 a “relevant filing system” for the purposes of s.1(1) of the DPA 1998?

25.

I turn first to the relevant provision of the DPA 1998, which was enacted to give effect
to EU Directive 95/46/EC (“the Directive”). It applies to the processing of
personal data by data controllers: it imposes various obligations on data

controllers, and confers rights on the individuals whose personal data is processed

1¢
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(“data subjects”). The terms set out in bold are specifically defined in s.1 of the
DPA 1998,

Since the present proceedings were commenced, there has been a fundamental change
in the data protection regime in the UK. Tt is now to be found in the General Data
Protection Regulation 2016 (“GDPR”), together with the Data Protection Act 2018
(“DPA 2018”). The DPA 1998 was repealed by DPA 2018 with effect from 25 May
2018, subject to transitional provisions. Notwithstanding these changes, the present
claim remains governed by DPA 1998; the provisions of the GDPR and of DPA 2018

are not relevant for present purposes.

By s5.1(1) of the DPA 1998, a “daia controller” means a person who determines the
purposes for which and the manner in which any personal data are processed. A “data

subject” is an individual who is the subject of personal data.
Further, under s.1(1) of the DPA 1998:-

“nersonal data” means data which relate to a living individual who can
be identified

{a) from those data, or

(b) from those data and other information which is in the possession of, or

is likely to conte into the possession of the data controller.
[1

and includes any expression of opinion about the individual and any
indication of the intentions of the data coniroller or any other person in
respect of the individual.
It is common ground that, to the extent that TW holds personal data about any of the
Claimants, it is a data controller in relation to such personal data, with the Claimants

being data subjects.

If, however, information is not darta then it cannot be personal data and therefore cannot
come within the scope of the DPA 1998. The DPA 1998, s.1(1) defines “data”. For
present purposes limb (¢) of that definition of data is material  This refers to
“information which is recorded as part of a relevant filing system or with the intention
that it should form part of a relevant filing system”. “Relevani filing system” is defined
in 5.1(1) of DPA 1998 as:

1



30,

31.

32.

“any set of information relating o individuals to the extent tha, although the
information is not processed by means of equipment operating
automatically in response to instructions given for that purpose, the sei is
structured, either by reference to individuals or by reference to criteria
relating to individuals, in such a way that specific information relating fo «
particular individual is readily accessible.

This issue relates only to the paper files maintained by TW before it moved over to
electronic files. In McGuigan 3 at paragraph 32, she explains that TW introduced its

electronic filing system in 2005, and that by sometime in 2008 it had become standard

practice to file everything electronically.

This issue in relation to paper files was not decided by HHJ Behrens. At the hearing
before him the evidence relating to TW’s filing system was not detailed. The
Claimants’ criticisms of the filing system, however, were taken for the first time in
Counsel’s skeleton argument served only a short time before that hearing. In those
circumstances, had it been relevant to his decision, he would have adjourned that aspect
of the application so as to give TW the opportunity to give more detailed evidence in
relation to it (see [2016] 1 WLR 28 at [70]-[71]). At [72], however, he went on to
express the provisional view that, in the light of Auld LY's observations in Durant v
Financial Services Authority [2004] FSR 573 at [48], further evidence by TW might
well have satisfied him that their paper files did not fall within the definition of a
“relevant filing system” in s.1(1) of the DPA 1998,

At [48] of the Durant decision, Auld LJ stated:

“It is plain from the constituents of the definition considered individually
and together, and from the preface in il to them, “although the information
is not processed by means of equipment operating cutomatically in response
to instructions given for that purpose”, that Parliament intended to apply
the Act to manual records only if they are of sufficient sophistication 1o
provide the same or similar ready accessibility as a computerised filing
system. That requires a filing system so referenced or indexed that it
enables the data controller’s employee responsible to identify at the outser
of his search with reasonable certainty and speed the file or files in which
the specific data relating to the person requesting the information is located
and to locate the relevant information about him within the file or files,
without having to make a maonual search of them. To leave it to the
searcher to leaf through files, possibly at great length and cost, and
Sruitlessly, to see whether it or they contain information relaiing to the

12



person vequesting information and whether that information is data within
the Act bears, as Mr. Sales said, no resemblance to a computerised search.
It cannot have been intended by Parliament — and a filing system
necessitating it cannot be “a relevant filing system’ within the Act. The
statuiory scheme for the provision of information by a data controller can
only operate with proportionality and as a matter of common-sense where
those who are required 1o respond to requests for information have a filing
system that enables them to identify in advance of searching individual files
whether or not it is “a relevant filing system” for the purpose.”

The evidence as to TW’s paper filing system

33. Before me the evidence as to TW’s paper filing system is contained in the
following witness statements: on behalf of TW, paragraphs 7-22 of McGuigan 3 and
paragraphs 18-24 of McGuigan 4. That evidence is addressed on behalf of the
Claimants by Ms Robertson in paragraphs 93-95 of Robertson 3 and paragraphs 18-22
of Robertson 4. I shall address the detail of that evidence when considering the parties’

" respective submissions. Suffice it to say at this stage, to give some idea of the scale of
the exercise under consideration, there are two small paper correspondence files
labelled with the name of the First Claimant and four paper correspondence files and
two paper documents files in the name of John D-D, entitled “Trust & Personal
Advice” and one paper file which has been discovered entitled “The Trustees of the
Glenfinnan Settlement — Trust Advice”. The records management system indicated
there were two such files, bearing the name “The Trustees of the Glenfinnan Settlement
— Trust Advice”, but only one has been found. TW has agreed to review these nine
files to see if there is any personal data relating to the Claimants. In addition there are
some 35 paper files under the client description, “Yuills Trusts”, the client being the
trustee of those trusts. Those paper files are held in chronological order. TW also
holds numerous other paper files for individuals or entities that are in some way related
or connected to the Yuills group or the Portarlingtons, George’s family. Those TW
refused to search on the grounds they fall outside the definition of a “relevant

. ” g'
filing system™. .

The Claimants’ submissions on a relevant filing system

34. The Claimants contend that TW’s paper files are “a relevant filing system™ and TW has
breached its obligations under 5.7 of the DPA 1998 by failing or refusing to carry out a

reasonable and proportionate search of that filing system (with the exception of the nine



33

files which are referred to at paragraphs 13, 16 and 20 of McGuigan 3 and which TW

have agreed to search).

Mr White submits that the correct legal analysis of this issue is as follows:-

(1

2

The concept of a “relevant filing system” in s.1(1) of the DPA 1998 implemented
in domestic law the concept of a “personal data filing system” in Article 2(c) of
the Directive, which was defined as “any structured set of personal data which
are accessible according to specific criteria, whether centralised, decentralised
or dispersed on a functional or geographical basis”. Also relevant is Recital 15
which provides: “Whereas the processing of such data is covered by this
Directive only if it is automated or if the data processed are contuined or are
intended to be contained in a filing system structured according io specific
criteria relating to individuals, so as 10 permif easy access to the personal data

in question.”,
and Recital 27, which provides:

“Whereas the protection of individuals must apply as much to automatic
processing of dara as lo manual processing; whereas the scope of this protection
must not in effect depend on the techniques used, otherwise this would create a
serious visk of circumvention; whereas, nonetheless, as regards momal
processing, this Directive covers only filing systems, not unstructured files;
whereas, in particular, the content of a filing system must be structured
according to specific criteria relating to individuals allowing easy access to
personal data; whereas in line with the definition in Article 2(c), the different
criteria for determining the constituents of a set of personal data, and the
different criteria governing access to such a set, may be laid down by each
member State, whereas files or sets of files as well as their cover pages, which
are not structured according to specific criteria, shall under no circumstances

Jfall within the scope of this Directive”

The more elaborate definition of a “relevant filing system” in s.1(1) of the DPA
1998 must be interpreted consistently with the Directive. The definition in the
1998 Act is “any sei of information relating to individuals 1o the extent tha,

although the information is not processed by means of equipment operating

14



(3)

(4)

(5)

automatically in response to instructions given for that purpose, the set is
structured, either by reference to individuals or by reference 1o criteria relating
to individuals, in such a way that specific information relating to « particular

individuad is readily accessible”.

Durant v Financial Services Authority was an early case on the DPA 1998,
decided before the right to the protection of personal data was enshrined as a
fundamental right in EU law by Article 8 of the Charter of Fundamental Rights
of the European Union (“the Charter™), which was given full legal effect by the
entry into force of the Treaty of Lishon on 1 December 2009. Since the right to
the protection of personal data has been enshrined as a fundamental right of EU
law in the Charter, the level of protection that right has received in the English
courts has markedly increased. He points to the difference in approach in
Johnson v Medical Defence Union [2008] Bus LR 503, where the Court of
Appeal held, obiter, that the restriction of compensation in s.13(2) DPA 1998
was not incompatible with the Directive, compared to Vidal-Hall v Google Inc
(Information Commissioner intervening) [2016] QB 1003, where the Court of
Appeal held that the restriction of compensation in s.13(2Z) DPA 1998 was
incompatible with EU law and therefore dis-applied it under the Charter.

En certain respects Durant has already been departed from — see the judgment of
Arden LJ in the present case at [110] declining to apply the statement in Durar
at [27] that the purpose of .7 of the DPA 1998 was not “fo obrtain discovery of
documents that might assist [the data subject] in litigation against third parties”.
Further in Titihadieh v 5-11 Cheyne Gardens RTM Co Lid [2018] QB 256 at
[104]-[105] the Court of Appeal declined to follow the statement in Durarnt
at [74] that the Court’s discretion under s.7(9) of the DPA 1998 was “general

and untrammelled”.

The Court of Appeal in Durant at [45]-[51] applied a restrictive interpretation to
the concept of a relevant filing system, expressing concerns as fo the burden in
time and costs falling on data controllers (a factor mentioned twice — at [45] and
again at [48]). Since the right to protection of personal data has become
enshrined as a fundamental right of EU law, the perspective is different. The

focus is on the need for protection of the data subject, as opposed to the burden

15



(6)

N

(®)

on the data controller.

The Court of Appeal held in Durant at [50] that this restrictive interpretation
required that a system could only amount to a relevant filing system if it satisfied
two requirements: (1) “the files forming part of it are structured or referenced in
such a way as clearly to indicate at the outset of the search whether specific
information capable of amounting to personal data of an individual requesting it
under 5.7 is held within the system and, if so, in which file or files it is held”; and
(2) it “has, as part of its own structure or refevencing mechanism, a sufficiently
sophisticated and detailed means of readily indicating whether and where in an
individual file or files specific criteria or information about the applicant can be

readily located”.

The Claimants submit that neither the need for a restrictive interpretation of “a
relevant filing system”, nor the requirement for an infernal structure or

referencing system within each file, is founded in the Directive.

On the contrary, Mr White placed strong reliance on the recent decision of the
Grand Chamber of the CJEU in Case C-25/17 re Tietosuojavaltuuntettu 10/7/18.
That case concerned a prohibition on Jehovah’s Witnesses from collecting or
processing personal data when taking notes in the course of their door-to-door
preaching unless the requirements of Finnish legislation relating to the processing
of personal data were observed. One of the questions referred to the CJEU by the

Finnish Supreme Admiaistrative Court was:

“Must the defmition of a “filing system” in Article 2(c) of the Directive,
examined in the light of recitals 26 and 27, be interpreted as meaning thai,
taken as a whole, the personal data (consisting of names ond addresses
and other imformation about and characteristics of a person) collected
otherwise than by automatic means in connection with the door-to-door
preaching described above .

i
(a) does not conistitute such a filing system, because the data does not
include specific lists or data sheets or any other comparable search
method as provided for in the definition contained in the relevant

Finnish statute, Law No 523/1999, or

(B) does constitute sich a filing system, because, taking account of its
intended purpose, the information required for later use may in

16
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(10)

(1)

practice be searched easily and without unreasonable expense in

accordamce with the relevant Finnish statute?”
In its judgment, the Court held at [56] that Article 2(c) of the Directive “broadly
defines the concep! of filing system’, in particular by referring to ‘any’ strunctured
set of personal data”, in order to serve the objective set out in paragraph 53 of the
present judgment. The objective referred to in paragraph 53 is “the scope of the
protection it confers on data subjects does not depend on the techniques used and
avoids the risk of that protection being circumvented”. At [57], the Court stated:
“ds is clear from recitals 15 and 27 of the Directive the content of a filing system
must be structured in order to allow easy access to personal data. Furthermore,
although Article 2(c) of that directive does not set oui the criteria according to
which the filing system must be structured, it is clear from those recitals that
those criteria must be ‘related to individuals'. Therefore, it appears that the
requirement that the set of personal data must be ‘structured according to
specific criteria’ is simply intended to enable the personal data 10 be easily
retrieved.” And at [61] the Court held that the specific criterion and specific
form in which the data was structured is irrelevant, so long as the data relating to

a particular person can be “easily retrieved’,

At [62] the Court answered the question as follows: .. Article 2(c) of the
Directive 95/46 must be interpreted as meaning that the concept of a filing
systen’, referved to by that provision, covers a set of personal data collected in
the course of door-to-door preaching, consisting of names and addresses and
other information concerming the persons contacted, if those daota are structured
according to specific criteria which, in practice, enable them fo be easily
retrieved for subsequent use. In order for such a set of data io fall within that
concept, it Is not necessary thai they include data sheets, specific lists or other
search methods.” The Court did not, however, rule that Finnish law was

incompatible with the Directive and remitted the case to the Finnish court.

Mr White submits that the restrictive approach in Durant is impossible to
reconcile with the approach of the CJEU in re Tietosuojavaltntettn, and that the
latter must now be followed. The second requirement in Durant at [50] that there
must be a structured referencing mechanism, containing a sufficiently

sophisticated and detailed means of readily indicating whether and where in an
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(12)

(13)

(14)

individual file specific criteria or information about the applicant can be readily

located, is flatly inconsistent with the Finnish case.

Furthermore he relied upon the Vidal-Hall decision at [125], where Article 2(a)
of the Directive was being considered, the Court of Appeal there stated: “the
starting point must be the wording of article 2(a) itself. Ms Proops submits that
its (wider) wording cannot be cut down by the wording of the recital, on the
general principle of EU law that the terms of a recital cannot be used fo give a
narrow construction to the substamtive provisions of a measure, which its
wording wowld not otherwise bear: see Societe d’Imporiation Edoward
Leclerc-Siplec v TFI Publicite SA (Case C-412/93) [1995] All E R (EC),
[45]-{47]. In any eveni, recital (26) should be given an expansive interpreiation
in the light of the purpose of the Directive as a whole, which is to provide a high
level of protection fo the right of privacy in respect of the management of
personal data by data controllers. To the extent therefore that article 2(a) and
the recital are inconsistent, we think it arguable that, as Ms Proops submils, the
(wider) lomguage of the provision must prevail " Mr White relies upon this, in
order to prevent reliance by TW on the provisions of those parts of Recital 15
and 27 to restrict what he says is the broad construction of Article 2(c).

He submits that the issue to focus on is therefore whether the paper files held by
TW allow the personal data of the Claimants to be “easily retrieved”. The
evidence put forward by TW does not focus on this question (it appears to be
aimed at the more restrictive test in Duranf). By relying on the restrictive Durant
approach TW have erred and failed to comply with their obligations under s.7 of
the DPA 1998.

Although contending that TW appear to have applied the wrong test, the
Claimants submit that it seems from paragraphs 13 and 16 of McGuigan 3 that
the filing system does enable TW to identify which files within that system are
likely to contain the Claimants’ personal data. It is clear from paragraphs 16, 19
and 20 of McGuigan 3 that each paper file has a “matter description”, and from
paragraph 19 that such matter descriptions are recorded on TW'’s records
management system. It seems that these “matter descriptions™ allowed TW to

identify certain files from which they could retrieve the Claimants’ personal data.
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(15)

(16)

McGuigan does not set out the matter descriptions of the paper files which have
not been searched, but paragraph 18 of McGuigan 4 states that “these paper files
are held in chronological order” and it seems likely that these matter
descriptions will include date ranges and some indication of the nature of the
advice provided sufficient to indicate whether the Claimants’ personal data are
likely to be contained in them. Paragraph 93 of Robertson 3 and paragraph 9 of
Robertson 4 explain that the system of filing data by reference fo date and subject
matter, enables TW easily to identify which files were likely to contain the
Claimants’ personal data, At paragraphs 10-11 of Robertson 4, it is contended
that it would be a simple and proportionate matter for TW to identify and search
their paper files for periods of time when key events were taking place (which are
identified in paragraph 11) and they can expect the Claimants™ personal data to

have been considered.

Mr White submits that the words “criteria relating to individvals” to be found in
Recitals 15 and 27 of the Directive and the DPA 1998 definition of Article 2(c)
includes an identified event in which the data subject is concerned. That
provision must be read expansively so as to protect a findamental right. Insofar
as a file is labelled with the name of a trust, the Claimants are within a small
number of discretionary benefictaries of the Willards Settlement and the First
Claimant is one of a number of discretionary beneficiaries of the Glenfinnan
Settlement. The reference to a trust is sufficient to relate to the underlying

individuals who are potential beneficiaries.

Within a particular file it seems that personal data relating to the Claimants is
sufficiently easy to identify and retrieve for TW to delegate this task initially to a
trainee in relation to six of the files, relating to the First Claimant and John D-D -
see McGuigan 4 paragraph 22. In this regard, the Claimants referred me to
_guidance issued by the Information Commissioner’s Office (“the 1CQO”), the
t statutory regulator under the DPA. 1998, which suggested a “rule of thumb” for
identifying a relevant filing system is to apply the “temp test”. The ICO Data
Protection Frequently asked questions and answers about relevant filing systems

(May 2011) at A2 states:
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36.

“Is there any rule of thumb I can apply to establish whether I have a
relevant filing system?

If you employed a temporary administrative assistant (a ‘temp’), would
they be able 1o extract specific information about an individual from your
manual records without any particular knowledge of your type of work or
the documents you hold? The ‘temp test’ assumes that the temp in
question is reasonably competent, requiring only « short induction,
explanation and/or operating manual on the particular filing system in
question for them to be able fo use it.”

(17) In addition, Ms McGuigan appears to have been able to consider the documents
in the paper files and depose that the “majority” of documents that contain the
Claimants’ personal data are “communications which are legal advice
commumications subject to legal professional privilege” — see McGuigan 3
paragraph 23. If TW can sufficiently identify the personal data relating to the
Claimants within the paper files to advance a claim for legal professional
privilege in relation to the majority of documents which contain it, the

retrieveability of the data must be a feature of the filing system.

For these reasons the Claimants submit that TW’s paper files amount to a relevant
filing system and TW has breached its obligations under 5.7 of the DPA 1998 by failing
or refusing to carry out a reasonable and proportionate search of that filing system (with
the exception of the nine files which are referred to in McGuigan 3 at paragraphs 13, 16
and 20).

TW’s submissions on a relevant filing system

37.

38.

TW’s case is that information held in its paper files does not constitute “data™ within
the meaning of DPA 1998, and hence cannot constitute “personal data”. Consequently,
any duty to search for or disclose information in response to the DSARs cannot extend
to information in TW’s paper files. This issue turns on whether the information in

those paper files comes within limb (c) of the definition of “data”, set out above.

Limb (c) cross-refers to the definition of a “relevant filing system”, set out above. Two

points about this definition are important.

(1) Tt applies only where information is structured by reference to individuals or

by reference to criteria relating to individuals.
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(2) Even where this is the case, the set must be structured in such a way that
specific information relating to a particular individual is readily accessible.
It is not sufficient if the set allows information that — in some general sense —
relates to a particular individual, to be readily accessed. The set must be
structured so as to allow specific information — ie. particular kinds of
information — to be readily accessed. Hence a set of information consisting
of files that are labelled by reference to individual names would not, of
itself, comstitute a relevant filing system. One needs to go further, and ask
whether the system is structured so that particular kinds of information relating

to each such individual can readily be accessed.

39. Reliance is placed by TW on Durant, which it is submitted contains assistance in
applying the definition of a “relevant filing system”, in particular the following
passages at [46]-[48] and [50] (emphasis suppiied)..

“46. As fo the 1998 Act, to constitute a "relevant filing system" a manual

filing system must: 1) relate (o individuals; 2) be a "set” or part of a "set”
of information; 3) be structured by reference to individuals or criteria
relating to individuals; and 4) be structured in such a way that specific
information relating to a particular individual is readily accessible. That
seems to me entively comsistent with the Directive, in particular in the
latter's emphatic emphasis in Article 2(c) and Recital (27) on a file so
structured by reference to "specific criteria” about individuals as o
provide easy access” 1o 'the personal data in question” When
considered alongside the narrow meaning of personal data in this context
and when read with Recital (15) indicating that the required "easy” access
1o such data must be on a par with that provided by a computerised system,
the need for a restrictive interpretation of the definition "relevant filing
system" is plain. It is not enough that q filing system leads a searcher to a
file containing documents mentioning the data subject. To qualify under
the Directive and the Act,_it requires, as Mr. Sales put it, a file to which that
search leads to be so structured and/or indexed as to enable easy location
swithin it or any sub-files of specific information about the data subject that
he has requested.

47. As both parties acknowledge, the Directive is an imporiani aid to
construction of the Act. Iis primary focus, as that of the Act, is on
computerised data (see Articles 3-9 in the context of its ready facilitation
of the free movement of personal data, and 11 in its concern for the vight to
privacy). And it is only to the extent that manual filing systems are broadly
equivalent_to computerised systems_in ready_accessibility to_relevant
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40,

41.

42.

information capable of constituting "personal” data that they are within the
system of data protection... Returning — and more specifically — to the
Directive, the definition in section 1(1) of the Act of "a relevant filing
system" accords with the Directive in its equally resirictive definition in
Article 2(c) of "a personal data filing system” as a "structured set of
personal data which are accessible according lo specific criteria ...",
and also with Recitals (15) and (27), which emphasise that it is
intended fo cover only files "structured according to specific criteria

relating to individuals"

48. [This has already been recited at paragraph 32 above].

50. Accordingly, I conclude, as Mr. Sales submitted, that "a relevant filing
system” for the purpose of the Act, is limited 10 a system:

(1) in which the files forming part of it are structured or referenced in
such a way as clearly to indicate af the outset of the search whether
specific information capable of amounting to personal data of an
individual requesting it under section 7 is held within the system and, if so,
in'which file or files it is held; and

(2) which has, as part of ils own structuve or referencing mechanism, a
sufficiently sophisticated and detailed means of readily indicating
whether and where in on individual file or files specific criteria or
information about the applicant can be readily located.”
Mr Pitt-Payne also relied upon the “temp test” contained in the Guidance issued by the
ICO, referred to at paragraph 35(16) above. He submitted that this is a practical,

common-sense way of giving effect to the approach set out in Duramt.

He submutted that Durant was a binding Court of Appeal authority on this court and the
re Tietosugjavaltutetty decision of the CJEU does not require a departure from it. In
the alternative, if, which is denied, that case does require a different approach to be
taken, its application leads to the same result, namely that there is no obligation on TW
to search the remaining paper files referred to in the evidence, because they fall outside
of the ambit of the DPA 1998 .

Mr Pitt-Payne relies heavily on the final part of Recital 27 of the Directive, which
provides: “whereas in line with the definition in Article 2(c), the different criteria for
determining the constituents of a structured set of personal data, and the different
criteria governing access to such a set, may be laid down by each member State,

whereas files or sets of files as well as their cover pages, which are not siructured

22



43.

44,

43,

46.

47,

43.

according to specific criteria, shall under no circumstances fall within the scope of this

Directive”

In re Tietosuojavaltuutertu, whilst the focus may be on ‘easy accessibility” one does not
look at that matter in the abstract. Unlike Dwrant and the present case, there is nothing
in the judgment to indicate whether there were paper files named in a particular way. If
one looks at [57] and [62] of re Tietosuojavalfuutetin, what is required contains three

separate and cumulative elements:

(1) The data must be structured by reference to specific criteria;

(2) That criteria must be “related to individuals™;

(3) The specific criteria must enable the data to be easily retrieved.

Each of those requirements must be satisfied in order to have a filing system.

Turning to TW’s evidence in relation to the paper files, in summary, TW started to
phase out the use of paper files in 2008. The firm moved offices in November 2008
and from that date fee-carners were supposed to operate paperless offices; though in

fact some individuals maintained some form of paper filing after that date.

TW’s paper files are organised (a) by reference to each client, and (b) for each client,
by reference to each piece of advice (or matter) on which TW 1s instructed to act. Paper
files will usually consist of> (a) correspondence files, ordered chronologically as
correspondence is received; and (b) paper sleeve document files in which copies of

documents are bundled together, in no particular order.

TW relies upon the following points as material, when determining whether the
information in the paper files constitutes “data” and 1s therefore capable of

constituting “personal data”.

First, the paper files are organised by reference to each client. Some of these clients
would be individuals, but many would not: for instance, TW has numerous client files

under the description “Yuills Trusts”, for which the client is the trustee.

Secondly, in relation to the paper files held by TW relating to the Yuills family trusts,
the client is not recorded by reference to any specific matter, individual or trust that

would enable one readily to ascertain which of the files might contain the personal data
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49.

50.

5L

52.

of any of the Claimants. The client 1s recorded as Grampian (or as the corporate trustee

of the earlier family trusts). See paragraph 18 of McGuigan 4.

Thirdly, regardless of how any file is labelled, the only way in which it is possible to
locate any particular type of information in that file about any specific individual —
whether this is the individual whose name appears on the file label, or some other
individual — is by going through the file page by page, and examining each page

individually. That is not easy accessibility.

Fourthly, none of the Claimants has ever been a client of TW, and so ordinarily one
would not expect to find any paper files that are identified by reference to the name of
any of the clients. In fact there are two small paper files labelled with the First
Claimant’s name, which TW has searched. There are no files labelled with the

names of the Second or Third Claimants.

Fifthly, the fact that the files are arranged chronologically does not mean that they are
“related to individuals”. Even if one were to single out specific events within the
chronology, the period suggested in paragraph 4 of Robertson 4 covers identified events
starting in 1989 and ending 1n 2009.

Applying the principles set out above, the paper files do not constitute a relevant

filing system: ;

(1) They are not structured by reference to individuals or criteria relating to
individuals. Rather, they are structured by reference to clients (who may or
may not be individuals), and then by reference to matters (which may or

may not relate to individuals).

(2) The specific files in relation to the Yuills trusts are structured by reference to
the corporate trustee client, not by reference to any individuals (e.g. individual
beneficiaries). A trust is not to be equated with its discretionary beneficiaries, for

the purpose of satisfying the requirement of “relating to individuals”.

(3) Tt is not possible for specific information about individuals to be readily located.
In order to locate specific information about any individual, it would be
necessary: (a) to identify the files where such information might be found; and

(b) to go through those files page by page. Even if some files were labelled
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53,

54.

35.

by reference to the individual in question: (a) in order to locate specific
information about that individual, it would be necessary to review those files
page by page; and (b) it might well also be necessary to review other files {not so
labelled) page by page, in order to locate specific information about the

individual. That does not amount to easy accessibility.

(4) In any event, as regards the Claimants, TW’s files are not labelled by reference

to their names (subject to a minor exception in relation to the First Claimant).

The principles set out in Durant, re Tietosuojavaltuutettu and the ICO’s rule of thumb

“temp test”, all point to the same conclusion: this 1s not a relevant filing system,

Notwithstanding the points made above, TW have in fact reviewed some nine of their
paper files as part of their work done in response to the DSARs, in order to identify
any information which would constitute personal data of any of the Claimants (if,
contrary to TW’s view, the information in these files constitutes “data”). In doing so,
they have gone beyond their legal obligations, in an attempt to address matters
pragmatically and reduce the scope of any dispute between the parties. Details of the
way in which TW has scarched for information in these paper files is set out at
paragraphs 22-24 of McGuigan 4.

Otherwise, TW has not reviewed its paper files in order to locate information that is

responsive to the DSARs.  For the reasons set out above, 1t 1s not obliged to do so.

Discussion and conclusion on Issue 1

56.

57.

I have come to the conclusion that the 35 paper files under the client description,
“Yuills Trusts”, arranged in chronological order, are a “relevant filing system” for the
purposes of s1(1) of the DPA 1998 and TW are required to search these for personal
data of the Claimants. That does not however apply to the numercus other paper files
for individuals or entities that are in some way related or connected to the Yuills group

or the Portarlingtons, George’s family.
I have reached this conclusion for the following reasons:

(1) T accept the Claimants’ submission that it is significant that the Durant case was
decided before the right to the protection of personal data was enshrined as a
fundamental right in EU law by Article 8 of the Charter, which was given full
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(2)

(3)

&)

()

legal effect by the entry into force of the Treaty of Lisbon on 1 December 2009.

As Lord Dyson and Sharp L] made clear in the Vidal-Hall case at [125]
the purpose of the Directive as a whole, is to provide a high level of protection
to the right of privacy in respect of the management of personal data by

data controllers.

Since the right to protection of personal data has become enshrined as a
fundamental right of EU law in the Charter, the perspective 1s different. The
focus is on the need for protection of the data subject, as opposed to the burden
on the data controller. The level of protection that right has received in the
English courts has increased, as can be seen by the difference in approach in
Johnson v Medical Defence Union [2008] Bus LR 503, where the Court of
Appeal held, obiter, that the restriction of compensation in s.13(2) DPA 1998
was not incompatible with the Directive, compared to Vidal-Hall, where the
Court of Appeal held that the restriction of compensation in s.13(2) DPA 1998
was incompatible with EU law and therefore dis-applied it under the Charter.

I note that the Claimants contend that in the present case the Court of Appeal
departed from Durant at [110] declining to apply the statement in Durary at [27]
that the purpose of s.7 of the DPA 1998 was not “fo obtain discovery of
documents that might assist [the data subject] in litigation against third parties”.
In my judgment this puts the matter too high. [110] must be read in conjunction
with [111], where Arden LJ stated that HHJ Behrens misunderstood the sentence
and it had been taken out of context. “The comtext was that Auld LJ was
emphasising the limited nature of personal data, which was the principal issue in
the Durant case. A person could not claim that something was personal data
because it would assist him in obtaining discovery or in litigation or complaints
against third parties” 1In my view that is not a departure from, but an

explanation of, the statement of Auld LJ.

The approach of the CJEU in re Zietosucjavaltuutettn, i relation to the
Directive, however, must now be followed. In [53] of that case the Court stated
“the scope of the protection it confers on data subjects does not depend on the
technigques used and avoids the risk of that protection being circumvented”. The

second requirement in Durant at [50] that there must be a structured referencing
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(6)

M

mechanism, containing a sufficiently sophisticated and detailed means of readily
indicating whether and where in an individual file specific criteria or information
about the applicant can be readily located is inconsistent with re
Tietosuojavaltuutettn. 1t is unduly restrictive and should no longer be a
requirement, which could otherwise create a serious risk of circumvention of
what is now a fundamental right (see Article 27). I reject TW's submission that

the ratio of Durant is unaffected by the re Tietosuojavaltuutetty decision.

However, [ also reject the submission of Mr White that as a result of
re Tietosnojavaltuntett, the sole criterion is whether the personal data relating
toa particular person can be “easily retrieved”. That issue is not to be
examined in isolation. I accept the submission of Mr Pitt-Payne that if one looks
at {57] and [62] of re Tietosucjavaltuutetty, there are three separate and

cumulative elements required:

(i} The data must be structured by reference to specific criteria;
(ii) The criteria must be “related to individuals”,

(iii) The specific criteria must enable the data to be easily retrieved.

I apply that approach to the 35 paper files under the client description, “Yuills
Trusts” and the client is recorded as Grampian {or as the corporate trustee of the
carlier family trusts). In my judgment that clearly relates to trusts in which the
Claimants, or at least the First Claimant, were potential beneficiaries. That
description of the files is a criterion which allows access to personal data. Is,
however, that description one which “relates fo individuals” for the purposes of
Recitals 15 and 277 1 note that Article 2(c) itself makes no reference to the
specific criterion having to relate to “individuals”. It merely states that they can
be “centralized, decentralized or dispersed on a functional or geographic basis.”
In this respect the Vidal-Hall decision is of assistance. 1 rely on the passage in
the judgment of Lord Dyson and Sharp JT at [125], where Article 2(a) of the
Directive was being considered. T have referred to it above, but for ease of
reference I set it out again here: “the starting point must be the wording of article
2(a) itself. Ms Proops submiits that its (wider) wording cannot be cut dowrn by
the wording of the recital, on the general principle of EU law that the terms of a
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58.

(8)

(9)

recitad cannot be used to give a narrow construction io the subsiantive provisions
of a measure, which its wording would not otherwise bear: see Sociefe
d’Importation Edoaurd Leclerc-Siplec v TFI Publicite SA (Case (C-412/93)
[1995] AN E R (EC), [45]-{47]. In any eveni, recital (26) should be given an
expansive interpretation in the light of the purpose of the Directive as a whole,
which is fo provide a high level of protection to the right of privacy in respect of

the management of personal data by data controllers.”

Giving the words, “relating to individuals” an ¢xpansive interpretation in the
light of the purpose of the Directive as a whole, in my judgment the fact that the
files relate to trusts in which one or all of the Claimants are potential

beneficiaries is sufficient to satisfy that requirement.

That leaves the last limb - do the specific criteria enable the data to be “easily
retrieved”? The files in question are arranged in chronological order. It will
require someone to turn the pages of the file in order to locate the personal data.
That is the exactly the exercise which has already been performed by TW in
relation to the files they have already examined in the name of the First Claimant
or John D-D, with the description “Trust & Personal Advice”. It was carried out
initially by a trainee (which is resonant of the ICO “temp test” referred to and
relied upon by both parties) and then reviewed by a senior associate. In my
Judgment that is not unduly onerous and enables any personal data relating to the
Claimants to be easily retrieved. Further at paragraph 35(17) above Mr White
makes a point which in my view has some force. Ms McGuigan appears to have
been able to constder the documents in the paper files and depose that the
“majority” of documents that contain the Claimants’ personal data are
“communications which are legal advice communications subject to legai
professional privilege” — see McGuigan 3 paragraph 23. If TW can sufficiently
identify the personal data relating to the Claimants within the paper files to
advance a claim for legal professional privilege in relation to the majority of
documents which contain it, the retrieveability of the data must be a feature of

the filing system.

For the above reasons I decide Issue 1 in favour of the Claimants in that I find that the

35 paper files under the client description, “Yuills Trusts”, arranged in chronological
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order are a “relevant filing system” for the purposes of s1(1) of the DPA 1998 and TW

are required to search these for personal data of the Claimants.

Issue 2: Can TW rely on the Legal Professional Privilege Exception contained in
paragraph 10 of schedule 7 to the DPA 1998 (“the LPP Exception”) in respect of any

particular documents containing the Claimants’ personal data? There is a sub-issue about

collateral waiver of privilege.

Background

59.

60.

61.

Part IV of the DPA 1998 provides for a number of exemptions. Some of these applied
{o exempt data processing from “the subject information provisions” defined in 5.27(2),
which included s.7 under which the DSARs were made. §.37 of the DPA 1998
provides that “Schedule 7 (which confers further miscellaneous exemptions) shall have
effect”. Paragraph 10 of Schedule 7 was headed “Legal professional privilege” and

provides as follows:

“10. Personal data are exempt from the subject information provisions if

the data comsist of information in respect of which a claim to legal

professional privilege or, in Scotlond, to confidentiality of communications,

could be maintained in legal proceedings.”
Legal professional privilege (“LPP”) includes both litigation privilege and legal advice
privilege. It is commen ground that TW can rely on litigation privilege following
MWE’s letter dated 18 February 2014, challenging the validity of the 2006 and 2009
appointments by the trustees of the Glenfinnan Settlement (see the judgment of Arden
LY at [5]), although TW now argues that it should be entitled to claim litigation
privilege on an earlier date, namely 1 October 2013. I deal with that point at paragraph
63 below. The issue before the Court remitted by the Court of Appeal is whether
TW can rely on the LPP Exception at paragraph 10 of Schedule 7 to the DPA 1998 in
relation to any data within the scope of the DSARs other than data covered by litigation
privilege after 18 February 2014.

In their application to the Court of Appeal for permission to appeal to the Supreme
Court, TW indicated at paragraph 7 that “the majority of the documenis in its
possession relating to the Glenfinnan Settlement, which were the subject of the SAR,
were legal advice communications subject to LPP within the ordinary English meaning

of that phrase”. This is reinforced by Ms McGuigan in McGuigan 3 where at
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62.

63.

paragraph 23, she states: “The majority of the documents int [TW's] possession relating
to the Claimants are held in our capacity as the legal advisers to the trustees of the
Glenfinnan Settlement and are communications which are legal advice communications
subject to legal professional privilege.” Ms Tayler has now exhibited to Tayler 1 a list
of 72 documents or categories of documents containing the Claimants® personal data,
which have been withheld in reliance on the LPP Exception (“the List”). They are
divided into four sections: section 1 — Litigation Privilege, section 2 — Legal Advice
Privilege, section 3 Second and Third Claimants’ Personal Data only and section 4 —

Legal Advice Privilege (not belonging to Grampian).

Further, in his oral submissions to me, Mr Pitt-Payne on behalf of TW, made clear for
the first time that section 3 of the List covers both (a) documents in relation to which
Grampian as the trustee of the Glenfinnan Settlement claims legal professional
privilege, and (b) documents in relation to which Grampian as the former trustee of the

Willards Settlement claims legal professional privilege.

I mentioned above that there is now a controversy as to whether the date from which
litigation privilege can be claimed should in fact be an earlier one. In Tayler 1 at
paragraph 6, she states that “I am advised that litigation was in reasonable prospect
from at least 1 October 2013, when following a call from Ms Ziva Roberston, the First
Claimant’s litigation lawyer 10 Stephen Kempster, then head of TW's contentious rusts
team, TW first made contact with Grampian about the First Claimant’s grievances.”
Only if that was the correct date would eight of the ten documents listed in section 1 of
the List be covered by LLP, That new date is contested by the Claimants: see
Robertson 4 at paragraph 52(g), where she refers to the common ground between the
parties, as recorded in [5] of the Appeal Decision, that the relevant date is 18 February |
2014 and states that ... The communications by [MWE] to TW prior to the [MWE]
letter of 18 February 2014 were requests for information, and not threats of litigation.”
Tt is unclear whether the “communications” referred to paragraph 52(g) were all oral or
whether there were any letters or emails sent by MWE. T was shown none and Ms
Tayler simply refers to one call on 1 October 2013. Mr Pitt-Payne accepted that the
present argument was not advanced when the matter was considered by HHY Behrens
[see [47] of his judgment] and the Court of Appeal [see {5] of the Appeal Decision] and
there was no reservation of any right to claim an earlier date when the date of 18

February 2014 was agreed as the date from which litigation privilege should run. In
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such circumstances [ am not willing to accept that a basis has been made out for TW

now to depart from that date. Accordingly the first eight references in time in section 1

should be removed from the List, and they should be disclosed as part of the Claimants’

personal data, subject to the matters raised in the final three sentences of paragraph 213

below.

The bases for TW’s claim to the LPP Exception

64. In McGuigan 3 at paragraphs 24-30, four separate reasons are relied upon in support of

65.

the claim to the LPP Exception. They are as follows:

(1)

2)

3)

(4)

First, (at paragraph 25) because TW does not accept that under English
law “the trustee ntight not be able to maintain legal professional privilege as
against a beneficiary because of a supposed joint or common irerest in the

privileged material’.

Secondly, (at paragraph 26) because TW can rely on 5.83(8) of the BTA which
“cuts down the rights under Bahamian trust low of a beneficiary to inspect the
frustee 's legal advice”.

Thirdly, (at paragraphs 28-9) because there would be some documents in which
legal professional privilege could be asserted (the only example given being
written advice on a matter which was contentious as between the trustee and
the beneficiary), and the time and cost involved in identifying these would

be “substantial”’.

Fourthly, {(at paragraph 30) because even if the First Claimant is entitled to
disclosure of the data, the Second Claimant and the Third Claimant are not (as

they are not beneficiaries of the relevant trust).

The Claimants’ position, stated shortly, s that the first point is wrong as a matter of

English law and the second to fourth points are not open to TW in the light of the

Court of Appeal’s earlier ruling, and are in any event unsustainable.

The Claimants’ submissions on the LPP Exception and Waiver

66.

When looking at the disclosure of informatton between a trustee and a beneficiary, the

Claimants draw my attention to the opinion of Lord Walker in Schmidt v Rosewood
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67.

68.

69,

Trust Ltd [2003] 2 AC 709 at [50], where he drew a “basic distinction” between two

different situations, namely:

(I) “The right of a beneficiary arising under the law of trusts (which most would
regard as part of the law of property)”; and

(2) “The right of a litigant to disclosure of his opponent’s documents (which is part

of the law of procedure and evidence)”.

Although disclosure pursuant to a DSAR under 5.7 of the DPA 1998 does not arise in
either of these two situations, Parliament in enacting the LPP Exception used the latter
situation, but not the former, as the basis for the exception. It is clear from the wording
of paragraph 10 of Schedule 7 to the DPA 1998 that the test is whether LPP could be

maintained in legal proceedings, and in the present case the Court of Appeal has held

that the exception is not concerned with disclosure under the law of trusts: see the
Judgment of Arden LJ at [54], where she stated: “Accordingly, in my judgment, the
DPA does not contain an exception for doctiments not disclosable to a beneficiary of a

frust under frust law principles...”.

In relation to the maintaining of LPP by trustees against beneficiaries in legal
proceedings the law has been clear since the middle of the 19 century. In Halsbury’s
Laws of England Vol 12 (2015) para 659 the position is stated as follows; “When a
Siduciary relationship exists, such as between a trustee and a beneficiary of the trust ...
legal professional privilege cannot be claimed by the trustee, except in respect of
communications and documents brought into existence by the trustee for the purpose of
litigation against him by the beneficiary”. Tn Matthews and Malek on Disclosure 5%
edn (2016) at para 11.88-11.91 a similar statement of the law appears. In Thanki on
The Law of Privilege 3™ edn (2018) at para 4.84 the authors state that a trustee and
beneficiary situation is one where joint interest applies such that neither party can assert
privilege as against the other in respect of communications coming into existence at the

t

time the joint interest subsisted.

In Wynne v Humbertson (1858) 27 Beav. 421 Sir John Romilly MR stated the rule in
the following terms at 423-4:-

“There can be no question that the rule is that, where the relation of trustee
and cestui que trust is established, all cases submifted and opinions taken
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70.

71.

by the trustee to gnide himself in the administration of his trust, and not for
the purpose of his own defence in any litigation against himself, must be
produced to the cestui que trust. They are taken for the purpose of
administration of the trust, and jor the benefit of the persons entitled o the
trust estate, who will have to pay the expense thereby incurred.”

The same rule was applied in Talbot v Marshfield (1865) 2 Dr & Sm 549 by SirR. T.
Kindersley VC who ordered production of a case and an opinion of counsel taken by
trustees before proceedings were commenced or threatened against them by certain
beneficiaries, but not a later case and opinion taken afier proceedings had been

commenced against them. At 550-551 the Vice-Chancellor stated:-

“The first case and opinion, the production of which is sought, were
respectively stated and taken by the defendants to guide them in the exercise
of a power delegated to them by the trusts of the will, and which, if
exercised, would affect the interesis of the other cestuis que trust, The
opinion was taken before proceedings were commenced or threatened, and
in relation to the trust. Under these circumstances it appears to me that all
the cestuis que trust have a right to see that case and opinion. ... The other
case and opinion, however, stands on a totally different jooting. This was
not to guide the trustees in the execution of their trust; but, after
proceedings had been commenced against them, they took advice to know
in what position they stood, and how they should defend themselves in
the suit.”

Some consideration was given to the nature of the beneficiaries’ right to production of
such documents in the speeches of Lords Parmoor and Wrenbury in O’Rourke v
Darbishire and ors [1920] AC 581 at 619-20 and 626-7. Although the case was
primarily concerned with whether the claimant could establish to the requisite standard
that a fiduciary relationship existed, the passage in Lord Wrenbury’s speech is
important because it distinguished between the two situations identified in paragraph 63
above, namely the right of a beneficiary arising under the law of trusts and the right of a

litigant to disclosure of his opponent’s documents. Lord Wrenbury said:-

“If the plaintiff is right in saying that he is a beneficiary, and if the
documents are documents belonging to the executors as execulors, he has a
right to access to the documents which he desires to inspect upon what has
been called in the judgments in this case a proprietary right. The
beneficiary is entitled to see all trust documents because they are trust
documents and because he is a beneficiary. They are in this sense his own.
Action or no action, he is entitled 1o access to them. This has nothing fo do
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2,

73.

74.  In Schmidt v Rosewood Trust Ltd [2003] 2 AC 709, which concerned the position

with discovery. The right lo discovery is a right o see someone else’s
documents. The proprietary right is a right to access to documents which
are your own. No question of professional privilege arises in such a case.
Documents containing professional advice taken by the executors as
frustees contain advice taken by trustees for their cestuis que trust, and the
beneficiaries are entitied 10 see them because they are beneficiaries. The
first case in Talbot v. Marshfield is an instance.”

In /nn re Londonderry’s Setilement [1965] 1 Ch. 918, which was not an application for
disclosure made in proceedings brought against trustees, but a claim by trustees for a
negative declaration about what documents they were obliged to disclose under the law
of trusts, further consideration was given to the basis upon which the VC ordered
production in Talbot v Marshfield At p.931G Harman LJ emphasised that the
application before the court in Talbot v Marshfield was an application for discovery,
and he explained at 932B:-

“The case and opinion were, of course, trust papers, having come into
existence ante litem motam. Counsel was advising the trustees as to their
rights and duties and every beneficiary must be entitled to see advice of
that sort.”

In the same case at p.938A-C Salmon LJ explained:-

“The position is quite different where the beneficiory seeks disclosure of
documents from the trustees in the air, as in this case, from the position
where the beneficiary seeks discovery of documents in an action in which
allegations are being made against the bona fides of the trustees. [f the
documents in question are in the possession or power of the trustees and are
relevant to the issues in the action, they must be disclosed whether or not
they are trust documents. In some instances, however, the fact that they are
trust documents may nullify the privilege that would otherwise exist. as for
example if the document consists of counsel's opinion taken before the issue
of the writ, clearly the beneficiary is entitled to see any opinion taken on
behalf of the trust. In the present case there is no suggestion of any kind,
and certainly not a shred of evidence, that the trustees acted otherwise than
with the utmosi propriety. In my judgment Talbor v. Marshfield has very
little, if anything, to do with the case we are now considering.”
(emphasis added)

of discretionary beneficiaries, Lord Walker considered at [43]-[50] the passage from
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75.

76.

Lord Wrenbury’s speech in O ‘Rourke v Darbishire set out above and the judgments in

In re Londonderry's Settlement. At [50] he observed:-

“The Board does not find it surprising that Lord Wrenbury's observations
have been so often cited, since they are a vivid expression of the basic
distinction between the right of a beneficiary arising under the law of trusts
(which most would regard as part of the law of property) and the right of a
iitigant to disclosure of his opponent’s documents (which is part of the law
of procedure and evidence). But the Board cannot regard if as a reasoned
or binding decision that a beneficiary 's right or claim to disclosure of trust
documents or information must always have the proprietary basis of a
transmissible interest in the frust property. That was not an issue in
O 'Rourke v Derbyshire.”

Lord Walker’s Advice in Schmidt v Rosewood Trust Ltd clarified the basis of the
beneficiary’s right to seek disclosure of trust documents under the law of trusts.
See [51] where he stated: “Their Lordships consider that the more principled and
correct approach is to regard the right to seek disclosure of trust documents as one
aspect of the court’s inherent jurisdiction to supervise, and if necessary 1o intervene in,
the administration of trusts”. However, it did not alter the rules applicable to the right
of a litigant to disclosure of his opponent’s documents, nor the position concerning the

assertion of privilege as between trustee and beneficiary in legal proceedings.

In the recent case of Lewis v Tamplin [2018] WTLR 215 HHJ Matthews sitting as a
judge of the High Court explained at [59]-

“Secondly, and similarly, the claimants are not entitled to production fo
them of any documents protected by legal professional privilege of the
trustees in any capacily other than as trustees of the Tamplin Trusi.
Originally, the trustees sought to claim legal professional privilege jor all
the communications with their lawyers: see Mr Feakes' second withess
statement ait [24]. This untenable position has wisely been abandoned.
There is a clear distinction to make. In general, where trustees seek legal
advice for the benefit of themselves personally, ¢.g. in relation to possible
breach of trust liability, or of another trust of which they are trustees, and
pay for if themselves, or out of the finds of thot other rust, without recourse
to the funds of the Tamplin Trust, that advice may well be privileged in
favour of those trustees as against these beneficiaries. Buf, where the
advice is sought for the benefit of the Tamplin Trust as a whole, and the
trustees pay for that advice out of Tamplin Trust funds, then such advice,
even though it may be privileged as against third parties, is not privileged



77.

78.

79.

as against the beneficiaries, and is liable 10 be ordered to be produced.”
(emphasis in original)
The distinction between the beneficiary’s right to seek disclosure of trust documents
under the law of trusts, and the right of a litigant to disclosure of his opponent’s
documents was expressly recognised by and relied on in the reasoning of Arden LT in
the decision of the Court of Appeal in the present case. In her judgment at [18]
Arden L] identified the issue in relation to the LPP Exception as being:-

“whether the Legal Professional Privilege Exception is limited fo
documents to which any privilege which affached was legal professional
privilege under English law, so that those documents were exempt from
disclosure in legal proceedings in England as against the claimants (“the
narrow view”) or whether (as the judge held) that Exception also includes
any documents which the trustee could refuse to disclose to the beneficiaries
under Bahamian trust law (“the wide view”)"”
At [23] Arden L) summarised her conclusion on this issue, stating that the exception
only applies to documents which carry LPP for the purposes of English law, and does
not include documents by virtue only of the fact that a trustee may refuse to disclose to
a beneficiary. At [25]-[26] Arden LJ recorded the Claimants’ submission that the
exception only covered LPP, This was contrasted at [32] with the submission on behalf
of TW that “If the material is subject to legal professional privilege or is privileged on
the basis of the irust relationship, there 1s a good answer to the claim for production of
the document.” (emphasis in original) At [54] (read together with [39] and [45])
Arden LJ’s conclusion expressly rejected the submission that the exemption applied to
“documents not disclosable to a beneficiary of a trust under trust law principles”, as
opposed to documents in respect of which the trustee could maintain LPP in legal

proceedings in the UK under the law of the relevant part of the UK.

For the above reasons, the Claimants submit that TW is not entitled to rely on the LPP
Exception beyond the litigation privilege following MWE'’s letter dated 18 February
2014 challenging the validity of the 2006 and 2009 appointments by the trustees of the

Glenfinnan Settlement.

8.83(8) of the Bahamian Trustee Act 1998

80,

Mr White submits that TW’s reliance upon the LPP Exception is based upon the fact

that the Glenfinnan Settlement is governed by the law of the Bahamas, and
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81.

82.

33.

34.

consequently s.83(8) of the BTA, “cuts down the rights under Bahamian trust law of a
beneficiary to inspect the trustee’s legal advice” [McGuigan 3 paragraphs 26-7] is
simply an attempt to re-argue a point TW lost in the Court of Appeal.

In her judgment at [34] Arden LI recorded the following submission made on behalf
of TW:-

“Mr Taube also develops the submission to show that the content of the

right is different under the governing law of the trusts. He submits that the

documents that Mrs Dawson-Damer seeks fall within section 83(8)(c) of the

BTA. and that the Legal Professional Privilege Exception applies to them.

The Exception shonld cover advice which is subject to legal professional

privilege under the governing law of the trust. The substantive effect of

section 83(8) of the BIA is the same as legal professional privilege even if it

is not strictly legal professional privilege.”
Arden LT addressed and rejected that submission at [51] and [54], and (in relation to the
exercise of discretion) at [113]. Crucially at [51] Arden L held that 5.83(8) of the BTA
is part of Bahamian trust law and is “nof about legal professional privilege”. And she
concluded at [54] “the DPA does not contain an exception for documents not
disclosable to a beneficiary of a trust under trust law principles. The Sact is that they
are not within the Legal Professional Privilege Exception, and no other exception has
been suggested.” In the circumstances it is not open to TW to seek to re-argue the point
based on s.83(8) of the BTA at this remitted hearing, That this is exactly what TW is
seeking to do, can be seen from the arguments it advanced in paragraph 4-12 in its
written submissions in support of its application to appeal the Appeal Decision to the
Supreme Court. Those arguments, which did not succeed, are indistinguishable from

those presently advanced now. |

Further, TW’s submissions would apply in a blanket fashion to all the communications
by which the trustee sought or received legal advice, whereas it is clear from the
judgment of Arden LJ at [17] that the only issue remitted by the Court of Appeal was
whether “any particular document(s) carry legal professional privilege under English

)]

law™.

In any event, an attempt to rely on the provisions of a Bahamian statute to establish that
documents are privileged from production in English proceedings would be contrary to

the well-established rule that “In the confext of English proceedings, whether or not a
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85.

document is privileged is to be determined by English law” — see Dicey, Morris &
Collins on The Conflict of Laws 15 edn (2012) para 7-022 and Fourth Cumulative
Supplement. For a full review of the authorities see In re RES Rights Issue Litigation
[2017] 1| WLR 1991 at [140]-[174].

Moreover, in litigation before the Bahamian courts between the First Claimant and the
trustee of the Glenfinnan Settlement, Winder J recognised that disclosure in litigation is
a procedural matter and that the rules are determined by the particular jurisdiction in
which the litigation takes place — see Dawson-Damer v Grampian Trust Co Lid (2017)
20 ITELR 722 at [31]. The report of the First Claimant’s expert, of Sir Michael Barnett
at paragraphs 20(a), 30 and 31(b) establishes that s.83(8) of the BT A has nothing to do
with LPP (see also Arden LJ at [51]) and that the law of LPP between trustee and

beneficiary is the same under English and Bahamian law.

The Willards Settlement

86.

87.

88,

Grampian is no longer the trustee of the Willards Settlement. The Claimants submit
that Grampian as the former trustee of the Willards Settlement cannot maintain a claim
for LPP in relation to communications by which it sought or received legal advice on
behalf of the Willards Settlement. It is for the present trustee of the Willards
Settlement, Yuills Investments Australia Pty Limited (“Ywills”) a company owned
and controlled by the Claimants, to decide whether to claim privilege in relation to

such communications.

Under 5.47(1) of the BTA all trust property (which includes documents containing
legal advice) vests in the new trustee. By a letter dated 7 December 2018 sent after
Mr Pitt-Payne raised this point, Yuills informed TW that insofar as there is
personal data of the Claimants which may be withheld on the basis of LPP in respect
of the Willards Settlement, Yuills waives such privilege to the extent necessary to
enable disclosure of that data to the Claimants, including by way of ‘full,

L3

unredacted documents.

Insofar as TW relies on Schlosberg v Avonwick Heldings [2017] Ch 210, that authority
is simply not on point, it deals with the situation where a person obtains privileged
advice as an individual (for his or her own benefit} and then as a result of the

insolvency legislation, his property becomes vested in a trustee in bankruptcy. The
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89.

90.

9l1.

92,

case decides that under the relevant insolvency legislation, the benefit of the legal

advice privilege does not pass as property to the trustee.

The situation in the context of an express trust is different. As is made clear in the
cases relied upon by the Claimants in support of the submission that legal advice
privilege cannot be asserted by a trustee against a beneficiary, where a trustee obtains
legal advice in respect of the administration of the trust and it is paid for out of the trust
fund, the benefit of the advice belongs to the beneficiaries. In that situation, the trustee
only has any interest in the advice (and the privilege that attached to it) gua trustee.
When the trustee retires in favour of a replacement, he ceases to have any role in
relation to the frust and all property, rights and interests in relation to the trust vest in

the new trustee.

In those circumstances, it is submitted that following the change of trustee, any
privilege pertaining to advice belonging to the trust passes from the outgoing trustee to
the new trustee. This is consistent with the terms of 5.47 of the BTA which provides

for the vesting of a wide variety of rights and interests in the new trustee.

Following retirement and vesting it would be absurd if, as TW contends, the former
trustee continued to be in a position of joint privilege arising out a relationship which
no longer exists and as a consequence had a right to prevent its replacement from
sharing advice relating to (and belonging to} the trust with the beneficial owners

without its consent.

In the circumstances insofar as any section of the List contains documents in relation to
which Grampian as the former trustes of the Willards Settlement claims legal
professional privilege, the Claimants’ personal data in such documents is not covered

by the LLP Exception and must be disclosed.

The time and cost involved in identifying particular documents in relation to which
legal professional privilege could be asserted

93.

This is the third point taken in McGuigan 3 at paragraphs 28-9. It is said that there
must be “some documents” in relation to which LPP could be asserted, and that the

time and costs involved in identifying these would be substantial.
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94

95.

%6.

The only documents put forward by way of example are a hypothetical category
“written advice on a mafter which was contentious as between the trustee and the
beneficiary”. However, as noted by Arden LT at [5] the Claimants only found out about
the 2006 and 2009 appointments in late 2013, and it is common ground that TW can
rely on litigation privilege following the letter from MWE challenging the validity of
those appointments dated 18 February 2014. Tt is unclear from McGuigan 3 that
there are any documents in this hypothetical category that would not be covered by

litigation privilege.

Secondly, the Court of Appeal remitted the issue of legal professional privilege for this

Court to determine “whether any particular document(s) carry legal professional

privilege under English low” (see the judgment of Arden LJ at [17) — emphasis added).
In advancing this objection in McGuigan 3, TW are not secking to identify any
particular document(s) covered by legal professional privilege, but merely to speculate
impermissibly that there must be some such documents which they have not

searched for.

Thirdly, insofar as this amounts to a claim that it would be disproportionate to search
for and identify those documents which TW asserts would (if and when identified) be
covered by legal professional privilege, the evidence in McGuigan 3 falls far short of
what is required to discharge the onus upon them set out in the judgment of Arden LJ at
[75] and [83}-[84]. TW has not even tried to identify the particular steps it might need
to take to search for and identify the documents, and the Court is unable to assess

whether any particular step would be disproportionate.

The Pasition of the Second and Third Claimants

97.

The last of the points taken in relation to LPP in McGuigan 3 is that even if privilege
cannot be maintained as against the First Claimant, it can be maintained as against the
Second and Third Claimants, who are not beneficiaries of the Glenfinnan Settlement.
The Court of Appeal has held that the purpose for which the First Claimant has
requested the data does not provide TW with an option of not providing the data (see
the judgment of Arden LJ at [107]-[113]), and the First Claimant can introduce and
refer to the data in evidence in the Bahamian Proceedings and, since there is no
confidentiality order, the data would potentially become public knowledge and

viewable by the Second and Third Claimants.
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98.

Insofar as TW relies upon Twin Berefits Lid v Barker [2017] 4 WLR 42 for the
proposition that if joint privilege applies one holder of the joint privilege cannot waive
it in relation to third parties, this would not be an obstacle to disclosure to the First
Claimant. Nor would it be an obstacle to the First Claimant deploying it in'the
Bahamian Proceedings where the only other parties are the trustee and its successor in
title to certain of the assets. The position in the present case is unlike that in Twin
Benefits where the applicant wished to deploy the joint privilege material in litigation

against parties who did not share the joint privilege — see [31]-[33].

Waiver

99.

100.

101.

This only arises if TW are right that they can otherwise rely on the LPP Exception. The
Claimants submit that the First Claimant has in her possession, to the knowledge of the
trustee, various documents containing instructions to and advice from Mr Robert
Walker QC (as he then was) sought and received by the trustee between 1988 and 1992,
The relevant facts were first set out in Robertson 2 at paragraph 14(1){(d) and no issue
was taken with those facts in McGuigan 2. The relevant facts were set out again in
MWE’s letter of 20 March 2018 and Robertson 3 paragraphs 20 and 90-92. TW have
not challenged Ms Robertson’s factual evidence in relation to this issue. Instead at
paragraph 84 of McGuigan 4 states “However, this issue of waiver of privilege is not an
issue in these proceedings under the Act. Instead it is a point which Ashley has raised
in the Bahamian proceedings. It appears that for tactical reasons she is trying to
incorporate that issue inio these present proceedings under the Act following the
Court of Appeal’s decision.” At paragraph 85, she states that Grampian does not
accept that it has waived privilege and “TW simply does not accept that Grampian has

waived privilege.”

In the circumstances it is submitted that Ms Robertson’s unchallenged evidence
establishes that any privilege in these documents which could have been maintained
against the Claithant has been watved — compare Birdseye and anor v Roythorne & Co
and ors [2015] WTLR 961 at [46] where a similar situation arose.

The waiver of privilege in relation io these documents would prevent TW from
maintaining privilege in relation to the “transaction” in respect of which the disclosure
has been made. See Fulham Leisure Holdings Lid v Nicholson Graham & Jones [2006}
2 All ER 599 at [11]-[20] and the cases there cited. Ms Robertson has identified the
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relevant transaction at paragraph 90 of Robertson 3, namely “the proper inferpretaiion,
taxe treatment, and re-settlement options in respect of various seftlements uftimately
funded from the estate of the late Mr George Skelton Yuill”.

102. This point on waiver has been upheld by the Bahamian Supreme Court in the litigation

103.

between the First Claimant and Grampian Trust Co Ltd - see Dawson-Damer v
Grampian Trust Co Ltd (2017) 20 ITELR 722 at [43]-[52]. It ought equally to be
upheld in these proceedings, if TW would otherwise be entitled to rely on the
LPP Exception.

TW's position that the issue should not be entertained in these proceedings because it is
also raised in the Bahamian Proceedings and is a re-run of its argument in relation to
discretion which failed in the Court of Appeal (i.¢. that they should not be required to
produce the Claimants’ personal data because the Claimants could seek it on disclosure
in the Bahamas). It overlooks the fact that this is a claim againsi TW as data controller
under s.7(9) of the DPA 1998, independently of any application against the trustee in
the Bahamian Proceedings. See Robertson 4 paragraph 49.

TW’s submissions on whether they can rely on the LPP Exception and Waiver

104. One of the questions remitted to the High Court by the Court of Appeal was whether

105.

TW could rely on the LPP Exception so as to withhold information from the Claimants.
TW has now carried out extensive searches of its data. TW’s present case is that some
of the personal data contained in its files falls within the scope of the LPP Exception.
This data has, accordingly, been withheld from the data produced to the Clatmants.
The relevant communications are contained in the List exhibited to Tayler 1.
Ms Tayler is a solicitor at TW, who reviewed the documents and has satisfied herself

that the relevant documents are subject to LPP.

Certain of the documents contain information in respect of which a claim for LPP
could be maintained in legal proceedings in England, since legal advice privilege would
apply. TW has long acted as the solicitor to Grampian, the trustee of the Glenfinnan
Settlement. TW has also acted as solicitor for other trustees of connected family
settlements in the Bahamas. TW therefore holds a large number of documentary
communications created in the course of the trustee secking, and TW giving, legal

advice, to which LPP attaches.

42



106.

107.

108.

109,

110.

111.

Accordingly, there is no doubt that the documents in respect of which TW seek to rely
on the LPP Exception are prima facie documents “in respect of which a claim o legal

professional privilege ... could be mainiained in legal proceedings™ in England.

In the Appeal Decision at [55], the Court of Appeal stated: “TW can and ntuest claim
privilege to which the client is entitled.  The frustee has nol waived its privilege, and
TW cannot (unless instructed to waive privilege) properly do so for them when acting

on the Reques(”.

TW’s client Grampian, the trustee, does not consent to the waiver of its privilege.
None of the adult beneficiaries of the Glenfinnan Settlement apart from the First

Claimant has authorised Grampian to waive privilege.
TW submits that the Claimants’ contentions that:

(1) the LPP Exception cannot be invoked against the Claimants as beneficiaries of

the Glenfinnan or Willards Settlements, because of a “joint privilege”; and
(2) the Court of Appeal has already ruled against TW on this issue,

are wrong. In any event both Grampian and TW are entitled to rely on the LPP
Exception as against the Second and Third Claimants, who are not beneficiaries of the

Glenfinnan Settlement.

When Grampian instructs TW to provide legal advice to Grampian and
receives legal advice, those communications are subject to LPP as a matter of the
English law of LPP.  As already noted, the LPP belongs to the client, so TW
cannot waive LPP on Grampian’s behalf. There was no joint refainer of TW by
Grampian and the First Claimant and Grampian was not the First Claimant’s agent.
Therefore such communications fall within the LPP Exception. TW submits that this

point is determinative,

The First Claimant’s claim to “joint privilege™ is based upon English trust 1aw based on
Talbot v Marshfield (1865) 2 Dr & Sm 549 and recent obiter dicta of HHJ Matthews
in Lewis v. Tamplin [2018] EWHC 777 (Ch) (at para 59). Those cases stated the
historical position as a matter of English trust law and, in particular, the rights of
beneficiaries of an English law trust. The cases proceeded on the express or implied

premise that, as a matter of English trust law, the trustee’s documents, which had
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112,

113.

114.

Sma

been paid for out of trust funds, were the equitable “property” of the beneficiaries; and
therefore a beneficiary had a right to inspect trust documents as an incident of his or

her equitable proprietary interest in those documents,

However, the English Court has now rejected the old “proprietary” analysis, which
underlies the authorities like Talbot v Marshfield, in the decision of the Privy Council
in Schmidt v. Rosewood [2003] 2 AC 709. (The English courts have followed Schmidi.?)
Therefore, the old authonities and dicta now require reassessment. In Schmidt v
Rosewood, “much of the debate before the Board addressed the question whether a
beneficiary’s right or claim io disclosure of trust documents in the possession of the
frustee should be viewed as a proprietary right”: paragraph 43 of Lord Walker’s Advice.
But the Privy Council decisively rejected the “proprietary” analysis: see [44] — [67] of
his Advice. Lord Walker concluded [67): “no beneficiary (and least of all a
discretionary object) has any entitlement as of right to disclosure of anything which

can plausibly be described as a trust document,”

Therefore, in an appropriate case, the English Court will in future need to reconsider
the old authorities which suggested that, as a matter of English trust law, a trustee of an
English trust cannot, as against a beneficiary in hostile litigation, rely on the trustee’s
undoubted LPP attached to a document in its possession. At para 6-024 in Passmore on

Privilege 3" edition (2013), after discussing the decision in Schmidt, the editors state:-

“The decision in Schmidt was not concerned with and does not directly
affect the privilege position when a beneficiary seeks access to frust
documents, but the decision at least brings to bear a different approach to
access requests which may well mean that in particular circumstances a
beneficiary’s right of access even 1o privileged material in litigorion may
be curbed.”
In the present case TW submits the Court does not need to reassess the principles for
two reasons.  First, if the Court accepts that Grampian (and thus TW as its agent) is
justified in its contention that the material listed in Ms Tayler’s schedule is subject to
LPPF, the LPP Exceptton applies. The second ground is based on the fact that the law of
the Bahamas governs the Glenfinnan Settlement, and that brings into play s.83(8) of the

Trustee (Bahamas) Act 1998,
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S.83(8) of the BTA

115,

116.

117.

118.

This subsection provides as follows:

Notwithstending anything to the comfrary in this section (but subject,
nonetheless, to subsection 11), no person shall be bound or compelled by
any process of discovery or inspection or under any equitable rule or
principle to disclose or produce to any beneficiary or other person any of
the following documents, that is to say

() any memorandum or letter of wishes issued by the settlor or any other
person to the trustees, or any other document recording any wishes of
the settlor;

(b) any document disclosing any deliberations of the frustees as to the
manner in which the trustees should exercise any discretion of theirs or
disclosing the reasons for any particular exercise of any such discretion or
the material upon which such reasons were or might have been based; or

(c) any other document relating fo the exercise or proposed exercise of any
discretion of the trustees (including legal advice obtained by them in
connection with the exercise by them of any discretion)” (emphasis added).

In the Bahamian Proceedings between the First Claimant and Grampian, the Bahamian
Count has interpreted s.83(8) “as primarily relating to the automatic discovery
process in ordinary civil litigation”, but it has also found that in limited exceptional
cases (e.g. where fraud or bad faith is alleged), 5.83(8) does not prevent the Court
from making an order for specific disclosure: see Dawson-Damer v. Grampian Trust
Co Ltd (March 2017) at [34]-[42]. In the Bahamian Proceedings the First Claimant
does not allege fraud or bad faith against Grampian, so those limited exceptions are not

relevant here.

The LPP Exception requires the Court to consider a hypothetical question: whether the
LPP which the data controller claims over personal data “conld be maintained in legal
proceedings.” The Coutt of Appeal held at [42]: “So when paragraph 10 refers to
legal professional privilege which may be recognised in legal proceedings, it means
proceedings in cny pavt of the UK. That is the only form of privilege which the domestic
riles of the law of any part of the UK recognise.”

If, in legal proceedings in England, the trustee of a trust govemed by English law
claimed LPP in its privileged documents as against a beneficiary of the trust, the

beneficiary would seek to oppose the claim on the basis that, as a matier of English
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120.

121.

122

123.

124,

trust law, the trust relationship meant the trustee could not rely on LPP against

its beneficiary.

In the present case though, the First Claimant cannot rely on English trust law. The
First Claimant seeks to oppose the claim to English legal professional privilege of
Grampian (and its agent TW) on the ground that she is a beneficiary of the Glenfinnan
Settlement. However, the trust law of the Bahamas governs the Glenfinnan Settlement

and the legal relations between Grampian and the First Claimant.

Under the trust law of the Bahamas, the trustee can maintain its claim to English LPP
against the First Claimant. Similarly, let us assume the First Claimant sued Grampian
in England. Grampian could maintain its claim to English LPP against her. The First
Claimant could not invoke her status as a beneficiary of this settlement to argue that, as

a matter of the governing trust law, there is a “joint privilege™: 5.83(8) of the governing

Bahamian trust law of the Glenfinnan Settlement prevents such an argument

succeeding against the trustee.

TW does not contend that the LPP Exception in Schedule 7 paragraph 10 of the
DPA 1998 imports any foreign species of privilege. Grampian and TW rely on the
fact that, as a matter of the English law of LPP, the documents set out in the List are
subject to English LPP. |

TW submuts that if the English form of LPP is asserted by a trustee and a beneficiary
tries to defeat the privilege by invoking her rights under trust law as a beneficiary of
the trust, the Court must examine the governing law of the trust to see whether the

relevant beneficiary actually has any such rights under that system of trust law.

The First Claimant contends that her status as a beneficiary of the Glenfinnan Settlement
isrelevant to her DSAR. She must therefore accept that the governing law of the
Glenfinnan Settlement is relevant to ascertaining her trust law rights. The LPP
Exception does not require the Court to pretend that the parties’ trustee-beneficiary

relationship is governed by English law, when that is plainly not the case.

In conclusion, TW is entitled to rely on the LPP Exception even as against the First
Claimant because the First Claimant does not have any trust law rights which cut

across, limit or qualify the trustee’s claim to legal professional privilege.
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The Court of Appeal did not decide this issue
125. TW submit that the Court of Appeal did not decide the issue. They rely upon [18] of

the Court of Appeal’s judgment, where it formulated Issue 1 (and the answers it gave to

Issue I}). The Court of Appeal defined the issue as follows:-

“ISSUE 1: Extent of the Legal Professional Privilege Exception: whether
the Legal Professional Privilege Exception is limited 10 documents to which
any privilege which attached was legal professional privilege under
English loow, so that those documents were exempt from disclosure in legal
proceedings in England as against the appellants (“the narrow view”) or
whether (as the judge held) that Fxception also includes any documenis
which the trustee could refuse to disclose to the beneficiaries wunder
Bahamian frust law (“the wider view”).”
126. On Issue 1, the Court of Appeal held that the LPP Exception was limited to LPP as
understood by English lawyers and that, therefore, TW could not rely on any
foreign species of privilege to withhold documents which would not atiract LPP in the

English sense.

127. 1t is important to understand why the Court of Appeal defined Issue 1 in this manner.
S.83(8) of the Bahamian Trustee Act permits a trustee to refuse to disclose a wider range
of documents than just its documents ¢ontaining material to which LPP aitaches (e.g,
confidential communications which are not subject to LPP but which may fall within
the Londonderry principle can be withheld). At [63] of the judgment of HH Judge
Behrens at first instance (in Dawson-Damer v. Taylor Wessing [2015] EWHC 2366
{Ch)) he had concluded: “paragraph 10 of schedule 7 should be interpreted purposively
so as to include all the documents in respect of which Grampion would be entitled to
resist compuisory disclosure in Bahamion proceedings.” This was the reason for

the Claimants' main ground of appeal: see [26] of the Court of Appeal’s judgment.

128. In the present application TW is not relying on a foreign species of privilege. It is
relying on Englisi-n LPP. Instead, it is the First Claimant who seeks to “pierce” the
trustee’s claim to English legal professional privilege by praying in aid her status as the
beneficiary of a trust applying principles of English trust law, However, the Glenfinnan
Settlement is regulated by a foreign system of law. Insofar as the First Claimant seeks
to rely on her status as beneficiary of the Glenfinnan Settlement in that way, she must

accept that her trust law rights as a beneficiary are governed by Bahamian trust law.
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129.

For the avoidance of doubt, it is not TW’s position that the LPP Exception applies to
the wider class of documents mentioned in s.83(8) which are not eligible for LPP. In
responding to the Claimants’ DSARs, TW has only withheld personzl data on the basis
of English LPP.

The Willards Settlement

130.

131.

132.

133.

TW submits that the Claimants’ assertion that Yuills is entitled unilaterally to waive
privilege in legal advice received by the former trustee, Grampian, so far as it concerns

the Willards Settlement is unsupported by authority and wrong in law.

The legal advice in question was obtained by Grampian for itself as trustee, so the LPP
continues to belong to Grampian. There is no special exception to LPP rules where a
trustee takes legal advice. Grampian and Yuills are separate legal persons. Yuills, as
the successor trustee of the Willards Settlement, is not the same person as Grampian.
Grampian has a continuing right to assert its right to LPP. This point is reflected in the
common law principle that a trustee is and remains personally liable for its own acts
and omissions — including contractual liabilities — that it undertook whilst it was a

trustee, even after it has retired as trustee: see Lewin on Trusts 19th edn. §21-010

On the basis of 5.47 of the BTA, the Claimants contend that all trust property vests in
the new trustee, and this includes trust documents containing legal advice. TW submit
that LPP is not trust property or an asset which invests in a new trustee along with the
trust property and documents. LPP “does not arise out of, nor is it incidental to,
properiy in the documents containing the privileged information. Itis a right in respect
of the information which arises out of the confidential relationship between the client
and the lawyer, and it has nothing to do with the status of the documents as chattels.”
See Schlosberg v. Avonwick Holdings Lid [2017] Ch. D. 210 (per Amold J at [121],
whose decision was upheld by the Court of Appeal at [68] — [70] and [36]).

Grampian is therefore entitled to continue to claim LLP in relation to legal advice it

maintained as trustee of the Willards Settlement.
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The time and cost involved in identifying particular documents in relation te which
legal professional privilege conld be asserted

134, In relation to the third point made in paragraphs 28-29 of McGuigan 3, referred to at

paragraph 63 above, namely the time and cost involved in identifying particular

documents in which LPP could be asserted, Mr Pitt-Payne submits that even if, contrary

to TW’s primary case, it is correct Grampian as trustee cannot generally assert legal

advice privilege against a beneficiary, there is undoubtedly some material in which

LPP could be so asserted (e.g. where advice is provided on a matter which is

contentious as between trustee and beneficiary). The costs of establishing what

information would be disclosable on this analysis would be substantial. It would be

disproportionate to require TW to carry out that exercise.

The position of the Second and Third Claimants

135. TW relies upon thé decision of Amold J in Twin Benefits Ltd v Barker [2017] 4 WLR

42 for the proposition that if joint privilege applies one holder of the joint privilege

cannot waive it in relation to third parties. In that case in proceedings alleging that an

agreement settling earlier proceedings regarding a trust had not taken account of the

interests of minors, the claimant applied for disclosure against a non-party.

136. The respondent, a solicitor, had acted as litigation friend to a minor (“E”) in respect of

the earlier proceedings. E was the representative of a class of beneficfaries of the trust

which included his half-siblings (“the Twins”), also minors. The proceedings were

seftled. The claimant, a compary to which the Twins had assigned their rights, brought

proceedings against the settlor of the trust and its trustee, alleging that the settlement

agreement had not propetly taken account of their interests. It applied for disclosure

from the litigation friend of several classes of documents: including communications

between the litigation friend, her firm and counsel,

137. The communications between the litigation friend and the legal representatives were

covered by LPP. The litigation friend conceded, for the purposes of the instant

application, that there was a common interest between E and the Twins such that they

were jointly entitled to LPP. Accordingly, E could not rely on LPP to deny the Twins,

or the claimant as their successor in title, inspection of the documents, but the Twins

could not waive LPP so as to permit inspection of the documents by the defendants

without E's consent. The litigation friend did not consider it in E's best interests to
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138.

139

waive LPP. Prima facie, LPP would prevent the claimant deploying the documents in

the proceedings.

It was not necessary, however, in order for CPR r.31.17(3)(2) to be satisfied, for the
applicant for disclosure to show that the documents themselves could be deployed as
part of its case. The structure of r.31.17 envisaged that an order could be made for
disclosure on the basis that the documents were likely to support the applicant's case or
adversely affect another party's case (r.31.17(3)(a)) even though the respondent might
have a right or duty to withhold inspection of the documents (r.31.17(4)(b)(ii)). At
[351-[371, the Judge held that the disclosure and inspection of the communications was
necessary fairly to dispose of the claim or to save costs. They were likely to give a
strong indication of the extent to which the Twins' interests had been taken into
account. Whether they supported or contradicted the claimant's beliefs, early disclosure
and inspection was likely to promote the speedy, just and efficient resolution of the
dispute, and could avoid the need for a trial. He ordered disclosure subject to the

parties agreeing a confidentiality club in respect of the documents.

Based on the above authority, if joint privilege did apply, in relation to the Glenfinnan
Settlement, the First Claimant alone could not waive it in relation to disclosure to the
Second and Third Claimants, who are not beneficiaries. There would have to be a
protocol agreed in relation to the personal data relating to the First Claimant, because

Grampian could still claim LLP against the Second and Third Claimants.

Waiver

140.

141.

TW’s primary case is that the First Claimant has raised similar arguments in the
proceedings against Grampian in the Bahamas, which have not yet been adjudicated.
It is the Bahamian court, not this court, which is the correct forum for determining it.

See paragraphs 84-86 of McGuigan 4.

TW accepts that the First Claimant is in possession of some documents containing or
referring to legal advice provided by Robert Walker QC to Arndilly Trust Co Lid,
another Bahamian trustee, (“Arndilly”) between 1989 and 1992. The First Claimant
contends that, at some time before the death in 2000 of her late husband John D-D,
Mr John Duff, who performed a consultancy role for the trustees of various family

trusts, family companies and the family gave these documents to John D-D; and there
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142

143.

144,

145.

has therefore been a collateral waiver by the trustee of its legal professional

privitege in “any related documents forming part of the same transaction.”

TW’s (and Grampian’s) position is that there has been no collateral waiver. The law of
collateral waiver is clear. The guiding principle is fairness. The Court will not allow a
party to "cherry pick" or "show his hand in part". The classic statement of the principle
was given by Mustill J in Nea Karteria Maritime Co v. Atlantic and Great Lakes
Steamship Corp [1981] Com. L. R. 132 at 139:-

"Where a party deploys in court material which would otherwise be
privileged, the opposite party and the court must have an opportunity of
satisfying themselves that what the party has chosen fo release from
privilege represents the whole of the material relevant to the issue.”

The essential ingredients of this test are that:

(1) the material said to trigger a collateral waiver is deployed in court or, at the

very least, disclosed in contemplation of court proceedings; and

(2) it would be unfair to allow the deploying party to “cherry pick”, ie. to
litigate in reliance on the disclosed documents but to withhold other

documents which may also be relevant to the same transaction.

The principle of collateral waiver does not apply to the disclosure which the First
Claimant alleges was made. Even if certain privileged documents were voluntarily
disclosed to John D-D, it is not admitted that Mr Duff was an agent of Arndilly for
this purpose.

In any case, there is no basis for the First Claimant’s contentions that Mr Duff was
thereby selectively waiving the trustee’s privilege in those documents as against not
only John D-D but also the First Claimant, or that this would have effected a
collateral waiver of other documents. Prior to John D-D’s death in 2000 there was
no litigation, whether actual or in prospect, so the documents disclosed were not being

deployed in litigation.

Discussion and conclusion on Issue 2

146. In my judgment, when considering Issue 2 there are a number of important passages in

the judgment of the Court of Appeal in the present case.
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147. The starting point is [54] of Arden LJ's judgment in the present case. She stated there:
“Accordingly, in my judgment, the DPA does not contain an exception for doctments
not disclosable to a beneficiary of a trust under trust law principles. The foct is that
they arve not within the Legal Professional Privilege Exception and no other exception
has been suggested”. Earlier at [42], she stated: “So when paragraph 10 refers to
legal professional privilege which may be recognised in legal proceedings, it means
proceedings i anty part of the UK. That is the only form of privilege which the domestic
rules of the law of any part of the UK recognise.” And at [45] “Therefore, the Legal
Professional Privilege Exception relieves the data controller from complying with a

SAR only if there is relevant privilege according to the law of any part of the UK”

148. The second important passage is at [51} in relation to s.83(8) of the TBA 1998, where
Arden LJ stated: “... This provision is an enhancement of the Trustee’s discretion to
refuse disclosure ... It thus seems clear, although the judge made no finding about this,
that section 83 is not about legal professional privilege (as conventionally undersiood)
but about the right of the trustee to refuse disclosure of documents or other
information.” In my view it clearly follows from this, that non-disclosure provisions of
the s83(8) of the BTA relating to a trustee’s right of non-disclosure 1s not included
within the LPP Exception and Arden LJ expressly so found at [54].

149. As Mr White and Mr Wilson recognise in their Outline Submissions at paragraph 15,
“legal professional privilege includes both litigation privilege and legal advice
privilege” At [55], Arden LJ stated: “TW can and must claim privilege to which the
client is entitled.  The Itrustee has not waived its privilege, ond TW cannot (unless
instructed to waive privilege) properly do so for them when acting the Request”. If
therefore the personal data is contained in documents which attract legal professional
privilege, including legal advice privilege, those documents would fall within the LPP

Exception and would not have to be produced.

Is the claim of “joint privilege” available to a beneficiary of a Trust under English
trust law?

150. In relation to the List exhibited to Tayler 1, insofar as those documents belonging to the
Glenfinnan Settlement are subject to LPP, neither the sole trustee, nor any of the
potential adult beneficiaries, apart from the First Claimant consent to TW waiving

privilege. I accept the analysis of Mr Pitt-Payne and Mr Taube in paragraph 66 of their
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151.

skeleton argument, that when Grampian instructs TW to provide legal advice and
receives it, those communication are subject to LPP as a matter of the English law of
LPP. The LPP belongs to the client and TW cannot waive LPP on Grampian’s behalf.
There was no joint retainer of TW by Grampian and the First Claimant. Where I part
company with their analysis is where they contend that this is determinative of the

point.

It is necessary to go on to consider the submission made by the Claimants that, whilst
that material may be privileged against a stranger, on the basis of the authorities
governing English trust law, the privilege is a “joint privilege”. Having considered the
authorities relied upon by the Claimants set out at paragraphs 63-76 above, I accept that
the Claimants® submission that under English trust law, joint privilege would arise. 1

reject TW’s submissions to the contrary.

The effect of s. 83(8) of the BTA

152.

153.

154,

That gives rise to the second question within issue 2 — what is the effect, if any, of
5.83(8) ot the BTA? In my judgment, whilst the Court of Appeal did rule categorically
that this statute could form no part of LPP for the purposes of the LPP Exception, it did
not consider whether, there was any aspect of Bahamian law which would affect the
entitlement of a beneficiary to prevent the normal application of LPP on the basis of

“joint privilege”. That matter has not been decided and remains open for argument.

It is common ground that the law of the Bahamas governs the Glenfinnan Settlement
and in my judgment that is the relevant law upon which to consider whether the First
Claimant has a “joint privilege”. I accept the submissions made on behalf of TW that
looking at the provisions of s83(8) of the BTA, where Bahamian law applies to & trust,
a beneficiary has no automatic right to see the legal advice to a trustee prior to any
threatened litigation and no proprietary right to documents containing that advice, and

s0 no “joint privilege” can exist under that law.

Such an analysis is quite consistent with the authorities relied upon by the Claimants
referred to at paragraph 83 above, namely the passage in Dicey, Morris & Collins at
para 7-022 and In re RBS Rights Issue Litigation [2017] 1 WLR 1991 at [140}-[174],
and in particular [169], where Hildyard J said: “To conclude my review of the relevant

English cases, it seems to me clear that whether described as a rule, a convention or
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156.

practice, it is the approach of the English court fo apply the lex fori fo issues of
privilege” TW is not relying on a foreign species of privilege. Tt is relying on
English LPP. Tt is the First Claimant that is trying to overturn the privilege that would
otherwise exist, and she has to do so by reference to the substantive law of trusts and
whether the relationship between a beneficiary and a trust and its trustee overrides the
LPP, which would otherwise exist. That, in my view, must be determined by reference

to the relevant law of the trust.

Nor do T accept that TW are attempting impermissibly to argue a point they lost before
the Court of Appeal. The point being contested before me is a different one, and one
which was not decided by the Court of Appeal. The fact that TW deployed a similar
argument unsuccessfully before the matter under consideration by the Court of Appeal
(as is indeed apparent from their written submissions for permission to appeal the
Appeal Decision to the Supreme Court), does not prevent their reliance upon 1t for

present purposes,

The result is that TW is entitled to rely on the LPP Exception even as against the First
Claimant because the First Claimant does not have any trust law rights which cut

across, limit or qualify the trustee’s claim to legal professional privilege.

The Willards Settlement

157.

158.

159.

In relation to whether Grampian, as a former trustee of the Willards Settlement, is still
entitled to rely upon LPP, despite the waiver by its successor, Yuills in its letter dated 7
December 2018, I prefer the submissions of the Claimants set out at paragraphs 86-91
above. In my judgment, one can distinguish the Schlosberg decision for the reasons

advanced by the Claimants at paragraphs 88-89 above.

In those circumstances, I fird that following the change of trustee, any privilege
pertaining to advice belonging to the trust passes from the outgoing trustee to Yuills,
the new trustee, which can waive and in this case, have waived any LPP. This
approach in my judgment is consistent with the provision of 5.47 of the BTA, which

provides for the vesting of a wide variety of rights and interests in the new trustee.

Given my findings above in relation to the effect of s83(8) of the BTA, it is therefore

not necessary to determine the other two points raised in McGuigan 3 at paragraphs 28-
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30. In case the matter goes further, however, I shall shorily state my decision in

relation to them.

The time and cost involved in identifying particular documents in relation to which legal
professional privilege could be asserted

160.

In relation to Ms McGuigan’s contention that the time and cost involved in identifying
particular documents over which LPP could be asserted would be “substanzial”, in my
judgment there is nothing in this point. Arden LY made clear at [83]-[84] of the Appeal
Decision that the onus is squarely on the data controller and TW has not come close to
discharging the onus on it. I accept the Claimants’ submissions recorded at paragraphs

93-96 above in this regard.

The position of the Second and Third Claimants

161.

162,

163.

In relation to the position of the Second and Third Claimants, I find the fact that they
themselves are not potential beneficiaries of the Glenfinnan Settlement, and therefore
LPP could be claimed against them, does not prevent disclosure to the First Claimant of
her personal data under the DPA 1998, if LPP did not apply to her because of “joint
privilege”. In fact I do not believe that the submissions made on behalf of TW go that
far. They are looking for some form of restriction being placed on the Second and Third
Claimants being entitled to see such data being disclosed to the First Claimant.

If one looks at [107]-[113] of the Appeal Decision, the Court of Appeal held that the
purpose for which the First Claimant has requested the data does not provide TW with
an option of not providing the data. The First Claimant can therefore introduce and
refer to the data in evidence in the Bahamian Proceedings and the data would
potentially become public knowledge and viewable by the Second and Third Claimants.
This could not form a basis for refusing to provide to the First Claimant personal data

to which she would otherwise be entitled.

In my view, this does amount to an attempt by TW indirectly to re-argue a point on
which they did not succeed before the Court of Appeal. Therefore, had the First
Claimant’s “joint privilege” argument succeeded in overriding the LPP Exception, I

would not have found it necessary to put in place any protocol or confidentiality club.

55



Waiver

164,

165.

166.

167

I'turn first to whether this matter has been determined by the Bahamian Supreme Court.
Looking at [43]-[52] of Dawson-Damer v Grampian Trust Co Ltd, it seems to me that
what in fact was determined by Winder J in that case was whether or not collateral
waiver can be raised in relation to the trustee’s right to withhold documents under
8.83(8) of the BTA. At [52], he stated that “he was satisfied that notwithstanding the
provisions of 5.83(8) the question of waiver is a live one and that any rights conferved
by 5.83(8) are capable of being waived..” He went on to say that he “was not satisfied
however that pleading reliance on a document is enough to waive protection afforded
under 5.83(8), albeit it is difficult to conceive how at trial any reliance can truly be had
on such a document, which the defence contends formed the basis of its decision-
making. It goes without saying that if any document is sought to be relied upon at trial
it must be disclosed at the discovery stage.” [emphasis in the original]. That is the

extent of his decision.

This is a claim against TW as data controller under s.7(9) of the DPA 1998 made
independently of any application against the trustee in the Bahamian Proceedings. 1
have to determine the issue of collateral waiver on the material before me in relation to
the LPP Exception to the DPA 1998, applying English law, the Jex fori. In my
judgment, the fact that the point has been raised in relation to the Bahamian
Proceedings in the context of 5.83(8) of the BTA does not dispense with the need for
this court to consider whether collateral waiver has been made out in relation to
compliance with a DSAR, nor does the decision of Winder J prevent it from doing so. 1

accept the Claimants’ submissions in this respect.

The evidence relied upon by the Claimants referred to at paragraph 98 above is not
materially challenged. In my judgment, for present purposes, Mr Duff is to be regarded
as an agent of Arndilly for present purposes, in relation to the provision to John D-D of
some documents containing or referring to legal advice provided by Robert Walker
QC to Arndilly between 1989 and 1992

There were, however, no proceedings on foot or contemplated at the date of John D-D’s
death in 2000, and I accept TW’s submission that, applying the dictum of Mustill T in
the Nea Karteria Maritime case, referred to at paragraph 142 above, the material said

to trigger a collateral waiver has to be deployed in court or, at the very least,
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169,

disclosed in contemplation of court proceedings. That requirement has not been
satisfied here, and that is the context in which, the second element, namely that it
would be unfair to allow the deploying party to “cherry pick” falls to be considered.
Nothing in the Fulham Leisure Holdings case relied upon by the Claimants detracts
from that requirement. In that case, in proceedings for professional negligence against
a firm of solicitors, the claimant voluntarily disclosed an attendance note of a
consultation with counsel, its instructions to counsel and a presentation made by
solicitors at a time when it was taking advice in relation to its position after the matter
in which it claimed the defendant firm had been negligent had taken place. At [20]
Mann J cites Auld LT’s judgment in R v Secretary of State for Transport ex p
Factortame (1997) 9 Admin LR 591, in which he cited with approval the dictum of
Mustill J in the Nea Koarteria Maritime case, referring to it as the “classic judicial

statement of principle.” In my judgment that principle is not satisfied here.

In the Birdseye case, Newey J (as he then was) was not considering an issue of
collateral waiver but whether, under English law, privilege could be asserted against a
beneficiary and whether confidentiality in the allegedly privileged documents in
question had been lost, confidence being a precondition for privilege. In my view it
does not assist the Claimants in relation to the fundamental requirement that the
material already disclosed, at the very least must have been disclosed in contemplation

of court proceedings.

I therefore accept TW’s submission that there has been no waiver in documents, which
would otherwise be subject to LPP on the basis of legal advice privilege. For
completeness, had 1 so found, T would have accepted the Claimants” submission that the
relevant transaction is that identified by Ms Robertson at paragraph 90 of Robertson 3,
namely “the proper interpretation, tax treaiment, and re-setilement options in respect
of various settlements ultimately funded from the estate of the late My George
Skelton Yuill”.

Issue 3: Has TW breached its obligations under 5.7 of the DPA 1998 by failing or refusing

to carry out reasonable and proportionate searches for the Claimants’ personal data?

Background

170. S.7(1) of the DPA provides as follows:
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171.

172,

173,

“Subject to the following provisions of this section and to sections 8, 9
and 94, an individual is entitled —

(a) to be informed by any data controller whether personal data of which
that individual is the data subject are being processed by or on behalf
of that data controller,

(b) if that is the case, to be given by the data controller o description of-
(i} the personal data of which that individual is the data subject,
(i1) the purposes for which they are being or are to be processed, and

(i) the recipients or classes of recipients to whom they are or may
be disclosed,

{c) to have comnumicated to him in an intelligible form —

(i) the information constituting any personal daia of which that
individual is the data subject, and

(i) any information available to the data controller as to the source of
those data, and

(d) fnotf material for present purposes. ]

By 5.7(9) of the DPA 1998, if a court is satisfied on the application of any person who
has made a request under s.7 that the data controller has failed to comply with the

request then the court may order him to comply.
S.8(2) of DPA 1998 provides:

“The obligation imposed by section 7 must be complied with by
supplying the daila subject with a copy of the information in permanent
Jorm unless — '

(@) the supply of such a copy is mot possible or would involve
disproportionate effort...”
The judgment of Arden LT in the present case has held that TW are obliged to carry out
reasonable and proportionate searches, and that the onus of establishing that any
particular step required to identify and disclose the Claimants’ personal data is

disproportionate lies on them. At [79] of the Appeal Decision, Arden LJ stated that:
“..it is clear from the recitals to the Directive that there are substantial

public policy reasons for giving people control over data maintained about
them through the system of righis and remedies contained in the Directive,
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which must mean that where and so far as possible, SARs should be
enforced. Moreover, most data controllers can be expected to kmow of their
obligations to comply with SARs and to have designed their systems
accordingly to enable them to make most searches for SAR purposes.”

And at [83]-[84], she concluded:

“83. ...I have no doubi that TW have not made good its claim that it would
involve disproportionate effort to take any further steps to identify personal
data. The court is not yet at g stage when it could say that any particular
steps would be disproportionate.

84. TW must produce evidence fo show what it has done 10 identify the
material and to work out a plan of action. It has singularly failed to do this
and so has not discharged the onus onit.”

174. The Clazimants maintain that they have made a number of requests for reasonable and
proportionate searches which are very likely to contain their personal data, but TW
have not complied with any of them. They submit that TW have singly failed to
discharge the onus of providing specific evidence in relation to each of the steps
requested that it would be disproportionate, and that its general appeals to
proportionality are inadequate. TW deny that it is in breach of s.7 and maintain that no
further searches should be ordered to be conducted because this would involve

disproportionate effort, and that it should not be required to do anything further.

The Claimants’ case in relation to its allegations of non-compliance in relation to their
obligation under 5.7 of the DPA 1998,

175. The further searches sought by the Claimants are set out at paragraph 87(iv)-(vii) of

their Outline Submissions and are as follows:
(1) A search for the Claimants’ personal data in:-

a. documents setting out or recording the reasons given to John D-D as to why
it was not considered appropriate to make a distribution to his family,
following his letter dated 8 July 1999 to John Duff;

b. documents referred to in documents containing the Claimants’ personal data
which have been disclosed as listed in the schedule sent to TW by MWE on
29 March 2018 (“the cross-referenced documents™),

c. the categories of documents generated by the trust advisors or family



176.

177.

178.

advisors and trust protector which TW are likely to hold identified in
Robertson 4 at paragraphs 16(b) and (c), 30 and 32; and

d. documents relating to the board meetings of Grampian held on 21 December
2006 and 23 March 2009 referred to in Robertson 3 paragraph 28 and
Robertson 4 paragraphs 28-29.

(2) A search for the Claimants’ personal data in their electronic documents
using the seven additional search terms listed in MWE’s letter to TW dated
16 August 2017.

(3) A search for the Claimants’ personal data stored on the Mimecast platform.

(4) A search for the Claimants’ personal data in the personal spaces in which TW
employees can save documents and emails of (a) currently employed relevant fee
earners, and of (b) those former partners and employees in the list exhibited to

Raobertson 4 referred to at paragraph 52(c) thereof.
I set out below the Claimants’ position in relation to each of them in turn.

In relation to the cross-referenced documents, the Claimants submit that TW have not
discharged the onus upon them in relation to establishing that the requested search
would be disproportionate. TW have simply refused to conduct this search. They have
not served any evidence setting out the time and cost which would be involved in
conducting such a search. If, as seems likely, the cross-referenced documents contain
the Claimants’ personal data, they fall within the scope of the DSARs and TW should
conduct the search. It is nothing to the point that there might be 60 or 99 such
documents. The Claimants have requested a targeted search of identified documents

and TW has not shown (or even attempted to show) that it would be disproportionate.

In relation to the categories of documents set out at paragraph 175(1)(a), (c) and (d)
above, the Claimants submit that beyond a ggneral contention by TW that their
existence were sufficient and proportionate to comply with their obligations under 5.7
of the DPA 1998 no further submissions were made by TW relating to those

documents. This is insufficient to discharge the burden placed on a data controller.

In relation to the further search terms requested, until the third day of the hearing TW’s

position was simply that it would not search using these terms because they were all
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175.

180.

“too wide”. No evidence was before the Court to show the number of hits or the
proportions of new and potentially relevant documents. On the morning of the third
day, Mr Pitt-Payne informed the Court that TW had now run the search terms and the
searches have yielded 132 new documents for “Dawson-Damer”, 589 for “Glenfinnan”,
192 for “’s 1ssue”. No new documents were returned for the other search terms. The
Claimants submit that far from establishing that the requested search terms are too wide
this demonstrates that they were not. No indication of the cost or time involved in
reviewing the new documents was given. In the circumstances TW should be ordered
to review the new documents responsive to the Claimants’ requested search terms and

to disclose any personal data found.

In relation to the requested search of the Mimecast platform, Mr Pitt-Payne informed
the Court on the second day of the hearing that personal data contained in nine
documents returned by the search term “Adelicia” had not been disclosed because the
data in question had been disclosed in other documents, But this is no answer because
the data will appear in different contexts in different documents and the DSARs extend
to the Claimants’ personal data wherever it is contained (subject to any applicable
exemption), The Claimants submit that therefore TW have not made out their case that

a search of the Mimecast platform would be disproportionate.

In relation to personal spaces, the Claimants request targeted searches of the personal
spaces of current and six former employees of TW. The evidence the Claimants rely on
is set out at McGuigan 3, paragraph 35, Robertson 3 paragraphs 74 and 85(c)(ii) and
Raobertson 4, paragraph 52(c) and the witness statement of the Second Defendant dated
11 February 2015, which revealed that most of the personal data ultimately disclosed
by Mr Morrison was retrieved from personal spaces on his/his secretary’s computers.
TW resist searching the personal spaces of current employees without any evidence that
taking this step would be disproportionate. Ms Robertson makes the points (a) that the
proportionality of searching the personal spaces of particular fee-earners who have lefi
TW must depend upon who they were and what their roles were in relation to the
Claimants and in what pericds, and (b) that there is no evidence that TW has searched
the personal spaces of currently employed relevant fee-earners. There has been no
response by TW to Ms Robertson’s evidence. There is some limited evidence in

McGuigan 3 that searching the personal spaces of former employees would be more
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difficult, but no actual evidence has been produced about the cost or time involved in

doing so.

TW?’s response to the allegations of non-compliance in relation to their obligation under
s.7 of the DPA 1998,

I81.

182,

183.

TW place great store on the provisions of 5.8(2) of the DPA 1998. It submits that the
issue under this provision is whether requiring TW to conduct any further searches, or
to carry out any further work in response to the DSARs, would involve
disproportionate effort. TW’s case is that this would involve disproportionate effort,
and that it should not be required to do anything further.

The Appeal Decision at [74]-[85] discusses the scope of 5.8(2) and makes it clear that
5.8(2) is not simply about whether the provision of documents in hard copy form (as
opposed to in some other form) would involve disproportionate effort. S.8(2) also
requires consideration of whether any necessary prior steps would involve
disproportionate effort. For instance, if searching for a particular type of information
would involve disproportionate effort, then the data controller is not obliged to carry out
such a search. The relevant passage in the Court of Appeal’s judgment is at §§74-85.
The Court’s approach is summarised by Arden LT at [77]:

“In my judgment, the word “supply” is used f[i.e. in section 8(2)] so

that what is weighed up in the proportionality exercise is the end object of

the search, namely the potential benefit that the supply of the information

might bring 1o the data subject, as against the means by which that

information is obtained. It will be a question for evaluation in each

particular case whether disproportionate effort will be involved in finding

and supplying the information as against the bewefits it might bring to the

data subject.”
In assessing what is proportionate, it is relevant to consider the kind of benefit that the
supply of information might bring to the data subject. The purpose of the right to
make a DSAR is to protect individual privacy, by enabling individuals to ascertain
whether their personal data is being processed in a manner consistent with DPA 1998,
The purpose of the right is nof to provide individuals with an additional route to
obtaining disclosure for the purposes of litigation. The Court of Appeal considered

whether the appellants were unable to enforce the request because of their collateral
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184,

185.

186.

187.

intention to use the information to assist in their litigation against the trustee — see [86]-

[115] of the Appeal Decision.

This is in the context of deciding whether the remedial discretion under s.7(9) should
be exercised against the Claimants. The Court of Appeal concluded that there was
not a “no other purpose” rule which was an automatic bar to the exercise of the s.7(%)
discretion: [105]-[114]. It does not follow, however, that the nature of any benefit to
be conferred on the Claimants is to be disregarded when assessing proportionality. If
the potential benefit to the Claimants is not the kind of benefit that the DSAR was
established in order to confer, then this should form part of the balancing exercise that is
involved in relation to proportionality. A major concern for TW in the present
proceedings is that the Claimants® demands and expectations in relation to what TW
should do in compliance with the DSARs goes beyond what is proportionate,
precisely because the Claimants are seeking to use the DSARs as an additional disclosure

exercise in connection with the Bahamian Proceedings.

The exercise that has now been carried out by TW, following the Court of
Appeal’s Order, and has resulted in the disclosure of various tranches of personal
data to the Claimants (summarised in McGuigan 4, paragraph 28). The exercise of
locating information, reviewing it, and disclosing it to the Claimants to the extent
that it constitutes their personal data, has taken significant time and work. The time
and costs involved have added up to more than 17 hours of partner time, 155 hours
of senior associate time, and 144 hours of trainee time (McGuigan 4, [74]). In
these circumstances it would not be proportionate to require TW to conduct any
further searches or to carry out any further work in response to the DSARs. This is
especially the case, as lists of disclosure in the Bahamian Proceedings were due to be

exchanged on 28 February 2019 — see McGuigan 4, paragraph 76.

The first main issue that arises under the s.8(2) heading is whether TW is required to
carry out any further searches of its electronic documents, in addition to the searches
that it has already conducted. The electronic documents themselves, and the sieps that
have been taken to search them, are described in MocGuigan 3 paragraphs 31-40;
and McGuigan 4, paragraphs 51-72. These are extensive.

TW have identified three repositories of electronic data that might contain personal

data of the Claimants:-
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188.

189

190.

191.

(1) The document management system (“DMS”). This is the system on which TW

now saves all electronic data created or received by the firm.

(2) Mimecast. Emails that are not saved to the DMS can be retrieved through

this program.

(3) Archive. This is a folder share on a file server. Its contents are a mixture of
personal and client related files that were not imported into the DMS when this

was set up.

In order to search the relevant information within the DMS, all of the electronic
files held in relevant matters have been uploaded to the Relativity processing and
hosting facility. Separate searches have been carried out in relation to Mimecast
and the Archive.

After running search terms against the documents held on Relativity, 1,29]
documents were returned (or 1,597 including so called “family members” such as
emails and attachments): McGuigan 3, paragraph 33. These have been reviewed in
order to identify personal data that is responsive to the DSARs.  For the purposes of
this exercise, 25 search terms were used (being the same terms that had previously
been agreed by the Claimants in respect of their DSARs against the UK Family
Advisers). McGuigan 4, paragraph 51.

Likewise, electronic searches have been run for the period 1 Jannary 2007 to
I8 February 2014 for emails held on Mimecast: McGuigan 3, [36]-[38]. The search
terms used, and the number of returns generated for each term, are exhibited to
McGuigan 3. TW reviewed the results of the search terms that had returned up to
1,000 resuits, and also reviewed the results of the search term “Willard” (even though it
returned more than 1,000 results) as this was likely to be more relevant to the
Claimants: McGuigan 4 paragraphs [65)-[66]. The detailed and careful process by
which the search results were reviewed is set out at McGuigan 4, paragraphs [67){68].

TW’s case is that the searches of electronic data that it has carried out (as
explained in McGuigan 3 and 4) go well beyond what is reasonable and proportionate,
and that TW ought not to be required to carry out any further searches. That is to say
the time and costs incurred in such searches could not be justified by reference to any

benefit or advantage to the Claimants of a kind contemplated by DPA 1998,
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192.

193,

194,

195.

TW’s response to the various criticisms made in Robertson 3 at paragraphs [65]-[85] of
its searches is addressed in detail at McGuigan 4 paragraphs [51]-[72].

In relation to searching TW’s electronic files held in the DMS and uploaded to
Relativity, the Claimants complain that TW ought to have used a further seven search
terms when searching Relativity (see McGuigan 4, paragraph 51). Each of these
terms would have been unreasonably wide, and would have returned a vast number
of results not contaiming any personal data of the Claimants: see McGuigan 4,

paragraphs 51-61.

In relation to the search of Mimecast, there is an issue between the parties as to
whether TW was required to review the results of those search terms that returned more
than 10,000 results (as the Claimants have suggested) or whether it was sufficient for
them to review those terms that returned more than 1,000 results (the approach that TW
have taken). The approach taken by TW goes well beyond what is reasonable and
proportionate: see McGuigan 4, paragraphs 62-72. The Claimants make the pointN
that very little information was disclosed as a result of the Mimecast search: this is
unsurprising, given that Mimecast is a backup system and all emails relating to a
paiticular client, matter or fee-earner should already be saved in the DMS
(McGuigan 4, paragraph 63). The Claimants suggest various further steps that
could be carried out to search Mimecast (Robertson 3 paragraph 85(b)). It would be
disproportionate to require TW to do this work, given that Mimecast is only a
backup system and given the risks that the proposed searches would disclose
confidential information or personal data about TW employees, or about other

unrelated clients: see McGuigan 4, paragraphs 69-72.

In relation to searching personal spaces, McGuigan 3 at paragraph 35, identifies
substantial difficulties of access in relation to ex-employees, after they have left

the firm.

Discussion and conclusion in relation to Issue 3.

196. I begin by indicating that I do not accept TW’s submission that the fact the Claimants

are seeking to use the DSARs as an additional disclosure exercise in connection with the
Bahamian Proceedings is a relevant factor to take into account when exercising the

discretion under s.7(3), any more than the trustee’s right to refuse disclosure under the
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BTA wouid be — see the ast sentence of [113] of the Appeal Decision in this regard,
where Arden LJ said “The exercise of the section 7(9) discretion does not, therefore , in

my judgment have to make allowemee Jor the trustee s right to refuse disclosure.”

197. After considering the respective submissions of the Claimants and TW, T find as

follows in relation to the Claimants’ further requests:

(1) The cross-referenced documents - I accept the Claimants’ submission that TW
have not served any evidence setting out the time and cost which would be
involved in conducting such a search. If, as seems likely, the cross-referenced
documents contain the Claimants’ personal data, they fall within the scope of the
DSARs and TW should conduct the search. The Claimants have requested a
targeted search of identified documents and TW has not discharged its burden of

showing it would be disproportionate. This search should be carried out.

(2) In relation to the remaining categories of documents set out at paragraph
175(1)(a), (c) and (d) above, I accept the Claimants’ submissions that these have
not been addressed specifically and in those circumstances, a search for the
Claimants’ personal data in these should be carried out,

(3)  The seven further search terms — I accept the Claimants’ submission that there
was 1o evidence before the Court to show the number of hits or the proportions
of new and potentially relevant documents were a further search 1o be carried out
using the seven further search terms. Of the information provided by Mr Pitt-
Payne during the hearing, TW had now run the search terms and those searches
have yielded 132 new documents for “Dawson-Damer”, 589 for “Glenfinnan”,
192 for “’s issue”. No new documents were returned for the other search terms,
In my judgment, this does not establish that the requested search terms are too
wide. No indication of the cost or time involved in reviewing the new documents

was given. This search should be carried out for the Claimants’ personal data.

4

(4) Mimecast — I agree with TW that it would be disproportionate to require TW
to do this work, given that Mimecast ig only a backup system and given the risks
that the proposed searches would disclose confidential information or personal

data about TW employees, or about other unrelated clients.

(5)  Personal spaces - In relation to searching personal spaces, given the difficulties
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identified in McGuigan 3 at paragraph 35, T do not regard it as proportionate to
require TW to carry out searches of ex-employees contained in the list exhibited
to Robertson 4. In my judgment, however, that search should be carried out in

relation to currently employed relevant fee-earners.

Issue 4: Have TW breached its obligations under 5.7 of the DPA 1998 by redacting or

withholding the Claimants’ Ron-exempt personal data,

198,

199.

200

201.

One specific category of information which is included in the definition of personal
data in s.1(1) of the DPA 1998 and which is material in the present case is any
expression of opinion about the individual and any indication of the intentions of the

data controller or any other person in respect of the individual,

At paragraphs 31-54 of Robertson 3, Ms Robertson gives a series of examples of what
are said by her to be inconsistent, unjustified and incorrect redactions. These are just a
selection from 2 much larger number of instances many of which were complained of
in a schedule provided by MWE to TW on 29 March 2018, following TW’s first two
tranches of disclosure on 26 January 2018 and 21 February 2018, but before the Iater
tranches of disclosure were provided on 20 April 2018, 16 May 2018 and 10 August
2018. Ms McGuigan responds to these examples at paragraphs 29-42 of McGuigan 4
and Ms Robertson replies at Robertson 4, paragraphs 18-27.

The Claimants also complain about the inconsistent redaction by TW of authors and
senders of documents containing the Claimants’ personal data. Where (as in many
cases) an opinion or intention js expressed the identity of the person so expressing it is
part of the personal data as defined in $.I(T) of the DPA 1998. In other cases the
Claimants contend it will be fecessary context to make the personal data intelligible,
Reliance was placed by the Claimants on the fact that Mr Pitt-Payne did not seek
to justify the redaction of recipient or sender in any specific example identified by

the Claimants,

The other main category of alleged excessive redactions are the inconsistent and
unjustified redaction of the recipients of the data (in this regard see s.7(1)(b(iii) of the
DPA 1998) Although Mr Pitt-Payne sought to defend TW’s stance by reference to the
words “a description of .. the recipients or classes of recipients”, the Claimants submit

that it is plain that this is not a case where the personal data was disclosed to classes of
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202.

203.

recipients (and TW have never su ggested that it was). It is a case where the Claimants’
personal data has been disclosed to specific recipients who TW are not always willing
to identify. The Claimants contend that TW's stance has no foundation in the Act and
is simply an example of hostility and lack of co-operation with the enforcement of the

Claimants’ rights.

This matter was addressed during the hearing when I considered a sample of four
documents containing alleged excessive redactions, including examples A8, A9 and
A10 and a letter dated 14 August 1989 from Mr Duff to George and John D-I) 1o be
found at Bundle 4, Tab 7, P8O, in the absence of the Claimants — see paragraph 70 p21
of Claimants’ Qutline Submissions, which contains a number of documents which are
the subject of complaint. 1 upheld some, but not all, of the complaints made by the
Claimants and stated that I would order that certain parts of the documents considered

be unredacted and provided to the Claimants in revised form.

In relation to withheld personal data, this includes both missing documents and
documents said to be cross-referenced in documents disclosed by TW. I have dealt
with the latter category as part of Issue 3 in paragraph 157(1) above. Insofar as the
alleged missing documents are concerned, the evidence on thig appears at paragraphs
56-60 of Robertson 3, under the category B1. Ms McGuigan responds to these points at
paragraphs 43-47 of McGuigan 4 and Ms Robertson replies at Robertson 4, paragraphs
28-33.

TW’s position

204,

TW disputes that there has been excessive redactions or the withholding of non-exempt
personal data. It makes the following general points in relation to the issues

about redaction:

(1)  The right conferred by DPA 1998 7 is a right of access to information, not

documents. Ttis fundamentally different from litigation disclosure;

(2) A data controller is permitied to reply to a DSAR by disclosing documents,
or redacted documents, but there is no obligation to reply in this form. For
instance, it may be convenient to respond by providing a list or schedule of

personal data;
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205,

206.

207.

(3} The requester is only entitled to disclosure of their own personal data (and this
is subject to the various exceptions in the DPA 1998). To the extent that a
document contains information that is not the requester’s personal data, it is
permissible for the data controller to redact that information. Indeed, in some
circumstances the data controller may be obliged to do so (e.g so as not to
discloge information that does not constitute personal data of the requester, but

that constitutes personal data about another individual).

The Claimants’ case here relies heavily on alleged disparities between the disclosure
made by the Family Advisers and by TW. The Family Advisers were independent
data controllers (for whom TW acted in these proceedings, before the proceedings
against the Family Advisers were discontinued). They made their own choices
about disclosure, and in some cases decided to disclose information that went beyond
the Claimants” personal data (see e.g. McGuigan 4 paragraph 31}, No adverse
inferences should be drawn from any alleged discrepancies between TW’s disclosure
and that of the Family Advisers,

The Claimants are seeking that TW should carry out further searches in relation io
information generated by the Family Advisers (see Robertson 4, paragraphs 5-17). At
the time of the request the Family Advisers and TW were separate data controllers, as
explained above. Moreover, given that the Family Advisers have themselves given
disclosure in response to the Claimants’ DSARs, requiring TW to carry out further

searches in this regard would be disproportionate.

To the extent that the Claimants are suggesting that, on the basis of their various
criticisms, TW should be required to carry out any further searches or to disclose
any further information, any such contention should be rejected. For the reasons
set out above, TW have now done everything that is reasonable and proportionate by

way of response to the DSARs.

Discussion and conclusion on Issue 4

208.

From the small sample that I have inspected, it is clear that in some instances there has
been more redaction than there should have been. In my judgment, the appropriate
course would be for TW to review their other redactions and apply the principles

arising from my examination of the samples, ensuring consistency of approach.
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209, In relation to missing or withheld personal data, I note that in relation to MWE’s
request to any response (or written evidence any response) to John D-D’s letter dated 8
July 1999 to Mr Duff, in paragraph 46 of McGuigan 4, Mg McGuigan states: “This is
also the most blatant example of the Claimants' yse of these proceedings Simply as a
Jishing exercise. If a response in fact exists, and is held by Grampian, the proper forum
Jor discovery is in the Bahamian proceedings.” In my view this misses the point
entirely. John D-D’s letter was found on one of TW’s litigation files. Ifa response to
that letter, containing anty of the Claimants’ personal data were in the possession of
TW, it should be disclosed under the provisions of s 7(1) and 5.8(2) of the DPA 1993.
The availability (or otherwise) of obtaining such a document as part of disclosure in the
Bahamian Proceedings is immaterial for present purposes. TW have now searched the
litigation file in which the original letter from John D-D was located and have found no
response there (see McGuigan 4 paragraphs 46-47). | accept the statement of
Ms McGuigan at McGuigan 4 paragraph 47 that TW are not seeking to withhold any

such response.

210. I note and accept the explanation given by Ms McGuigan at paragraph 44 of McGuigan
4 as to why little disclosure has been made in respect of the years 2006 10 2012. T also
note the statement made by Ms MocGuigan at paragraph 7 of McGuigan 4 that
“Following the Courr of Appeal’s decision we haye conducted careful and thorough
searches of the material we hold in accordance with the Act and have disclosed their
personal data we are required 1o disclose.” It is apparent from paragraph 49 of
McGuigan 4, however, that this was on the basis that “owur hard copy files are not held

n arelevart filing system.” 1 have already addressed this under Issue 1.

211, In my judgment, having indicated that further searches need to be carried out by TW
for the Claimants’ personal data in relation to Issues 1 and 3 as identified above and the

redacted materials reviewed, it is not Necessary to require TW to do more.

Conclusion

212. Tdecide Issue 1 in favour of the Claimants in that I find that the 35 paper files under the
client description, “Yuills Trusts”, arranged in chronological order are a “relevant filing
system” for the purposes of s1( 1) of the DPA 1998 and TW are required to search them

for personal data of the Claimants,
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213.

214

215,

216.

In relation to Issue 2 I find that TW are entitled to claim LPP over the documents
exhibited to the schedule to Tayler 1, if they were subject to legal advice privilege
between TW and their client, Grampian, the trustee of the Glenfinnan Settlement. In my
judgment, there has been no collateral waiver of privilege, This does not apply,
however, to the Willards Settlement, where Grampian has been replaced as a trustee by
Yuills, which is entitled to and has waived privilege. Further I find that the date from
which litigation privilege can be claimed remains 18 February 2014, which means that
the documents in section 1 of the List, that are dated prior to that should be disclosed,
insofar as they contain the Claimants’ personal data. Afier the judgment was handed
down in draft to the parties, Mr Pitt-Payne has sought to argue that those documents
should not be disclosed 10 the extent that they can be withheld on the grounds of legal
advice privilege, by reason of my findings set out earlier in this paragraph. In principle
Faccept that submission, but I note that those documents were not included in section 2
of the List, and it was not suggested in argument on behalf of TW that they could be
withheld on this alternative ground. I therefore wish to examine those documents
falling within section 1, which are dated prior to 18 February 2014, in relation to which
legal advice privilege is claimed, in accordance with 5.15 DPA 1998 [see also [17] of
the Appeal Decision]. I will then make a ruling on them.

In relation to Issue 3, I direct that TW should carry out the following searches for the

Claimants’ personal data:
(1) asearch of the documents set oyt at paragraph 175 above,
(2) 2 search using the seven further search terms;

(3) a search of the relevant current employed TW fee earners’ personal spaces in

spaces in which they can save documents and emails.

In relation to Issue 4, I direct that TW should review the redacted passages in the
documents provided to the Claimants to ensure that those redactions are appropriate,
consistent and in accordance with the points I made when considering the samples at

the hearing,

I would be grateful if Counsel could prepare a draft Order embodying these

conclusions, which can be considered when Judgment is handed down on Friday
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17 May at 2pm. At that time T will also deal with costs and any consequential
applications.
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